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LETTER TO THE INTERNATIONAL MARXIST GROUP
FROM THE UNITED SECRETARIAT OF THE FOURTH INTERNATIONAL

To the International Marxist Group
Dear Comrades,

While we have differing evaluations on the attribution of
responsibility reached by the Fact-Finding Commission
(see our separate statements attached to the report p. 7),
we unanimously urge you to implement the following
recommendations:

1) That all the charges laid and disciplinary actions
taken against Tendency comrades, including suspensions
and censures, be rescinded. This includes, among others,
the censure of Comrade Alan Harris, the charges and ac-
tions taken against Comrade Anderson, and the charges
and actions taken against the Nottingham minority women
comrades.

2) That the IMG leadership make every effort to aid the
integration of Tendency members into meaningful political
activity — especially defense work, the expansion of British
circulation of Intercontinental Press, and the abortion-con-
traception campaign— where their specific opinion cannot
come into conflict with efficient and enthusiastic engage-
ment. This would help assure a fraternal atmosphere
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inside the organization in which all minority political
contributions are treated as the completely normal exercise
of membership rights under the norms of democratic cen-
tralism.

3) That the majority assure the Tendency that the rules
on recruitment of new members be uniformly applied and
that the basic organizational units of the IMG be composed
in such a way as not to isolate minority comrades within
the organization.

4) That within this framework of democratic rights, the
IMG minority sincerely respects and applies party disci-
pline and recognizes the right of elected leadership to lead
the organization in day-to-day activity, and that it par-
ticipates in public IMG activities even though there are
many with which it disagrees.

The implementation of these recommendations is in the
interest of the development of democracy and political
clarity and is in the interest of both the IMG as a whole
and the Fourth International

We urge the leaders of the world movement to collab-
orate in this effort.

The United Secretariat
April 16, 1972



REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL FACT FINDING COMMISSION

ON ITS

INVESTIGATION OF THE INTERNAL SITUATION

WITHIN THE INTERNATIONAL MARXIST GROUP
(BRITISH SECTION OF THE FOURTH INTERNATIONAL)

A proposal introduced by the representatives of the IMG
on behalf of their National Committee (Ref. M-23) and
agreed to at the November 1971 United Secretariat meeting
immediately following the International Executive Com-
mittee plenum mandated a fact-finding commission to
travel to Great Britain for the purpose of investigating
the internal situation in the British section and to report
back to the United Secretariat the circumstances and ac-
tions which led to a series of disciplinary measures taken
against members of a minority tendency (hereafter re-
ferred to as the Tendency), some of which were referred
to the commission by the IMG National Committee for
recommendations.

Comrades Martine, Gormley, Delphin, and Diego were
selected by the December 1971 United Secretariat meet-
ing to constitute the commission, and they were asked to
meet in Great Britain at the earliest practical date.

The members of the Commission met in London on
February 15, 1972, and at our first meeting agreed to:
a) examine all the documentary material submitted to
us; b) to call before us for questioning members of the
IMG in London, Nottingham, Glasgow, Forth Valley,
and Edinburgh. To this end we travelled from London
to Glasgow, to Forth Valley (Bo'ness), Edinburgh, Not-
tingham, and back to London. We met for final sessions
in Paris and Brussels without Comrade Gormley who
had to return home. Here we reached a common con-
clusion. Where we disagreed, we indicate our points of
disagreement in separate statements signed individually.

The file of the IMG national office for the years 1970
and 1971 was given us. A dossier of eight documents
with the addition of some letters of testimony and state-
ments were submitted by the Tendency and a dossier
of twenty documents was submitted by the IMG national
office. Exchange of correspondence between the leader-
ships of the Socialist Workers Party (SWP) and the Inter-
national Marxist Group (IMG) which are relevant to one
of the cases of discipline reviewed were secured from the
SWP. All this material had to be examined and indexed
for reference purposes in order to reconstruct, as far as
possible, the organizational procedures that culminated
in the disciplinary measures against members of the Ten-
dency.

Within the delimited scope of the inquiry which was
to "ascertain the facts" and make some recommendations,
it was clearly evident that we could not investigate every
single episode. Nor could we permit ourselves to become
involved in the political disputes existing within the sec-
tion. We viewed our presence in Great Britain as an inde-
pendent body requested by the IMG national leadership
and authorized by the United Secretariat to examine the
facts and give our opinion on the internal situation with
recommendations to the IMG National Committee on what
should be done.

We examined the charges against members of the Ten-
dency in London, Glasgow, Edinburgh, and Nottingham.
These charges and episodes occurred in what was without
question a highly factional atmosphere that created prej-
udice against members of the Tendency. We take note
of the encouraging fact that despite this bad internal cli-
mate, members of the Tendency remained inside the IMG.
It is testimony to the fact that they are loyal to the Inter-
national. That the IMG leadership has drawn short of
further administrative measures in this internal situation
and has submitted this to the International for its inter-
vention is testimony to their concern and loyalty to the
International.

CONCLUSION

The evidence that we have examined leads us to the
conclusion that the leadership of the IMG bears the major
responsibility for the deterioration in the internal situa-
tion within the IMG. It had complete control of the ad-
ministrative apparatus with the exception of a short period
in the Glasgow branch. It has been an overwhelming
majority since the inception of the dispute. It was its
responsibility to ensure both the letter and spirit of the
norms of democratic centralism. Failure to do so could
have no other result but to create the highly factional
climate that has marked the internal life of the section.
We call attention to the following three examples that
contributed to the deterioration of relations within the
IMG.

THE CASES OF COMRADE HARRIS,
THE SCOTTISH MEMBERS,
AND THE NOTTINGHAM WOMEN

1. The case of Comrade A. Harris

This comrade, a member of the International Executive
Committee and a founding member of the IMG, was cen-
sured by the National Committee of the IMG at its meet-
ing of July 25/26, 1970 (ref. c-73). We do not go into
the merits of the case that the leadership had against
Comrade Harris. We merely call attention to the method
employed by the leadership in censuring Comrade Harris.
Documents and remarks on this case are appended to
this report. g

At the National Committee meeting mentioned above
a motion by Comrade Jenkins was carried, censuring
Comrade Harris for "his unilateral action regarding
Leader Books." This censure was then circulated to the
entire membership (a method employed by the IMG to
keep the membership informed of leadership decisions).
Comrade Harris correctly points out that: a) no charges
were ever presented to him; b) he was not even informed
that this matter was to be considered by the National



Committee; and ¢) he was not invited to a session that
was going to discuss this matter, and permitted to state
his side of the matter so that those voting on this cen-
sure motion could vote intelligently. He himself only for-
mally learned of this censure two weeks later when he
read of it in the nationally circulated Letter to the Mem-
bership. He further pointed out that this could only prej-
udice the membership against himself and by associa-
tion the Tendency to which he belongs.

We believe that this censure was in fact a disciplinary
measure and that Comrade Harris's appeal against the
violation of his democratic rights is justified. We recom-
mend that this censure be removed.

2. The case of the Nottingham women. *

The second example is from the case involving the
journal Socialist Woman and four Tendency comrades
in Nottingham who have a long and well-known record
of activity in the women's liberation movement. The
charges against these four were initiated by an IMG fact-
finding commission in May 1971 (ref. N-42 appendix 3).
They were not heard nor acted upon until two special
Political Committee meetings were convened in Notting-
ham on December 15, 1971, and January 7, 1972. At
the latter session the charge that: (a) the comrades made
no serious effort to aid the implementation of the Nation-
al Committee decision to change the editorial structure
of Socialist Woman between October 1970 and March
18, 1971, and that they in their capacity as members
of the editorial board of the Nottingham-based Socialist
Woman bear collective responsibility for its publication
and content; and the charges that: (b) publication of
the issue of Jan/Feb. 1971 was in direct defiance of Na-
tional Committee motions, and the mimeoed insert in
that issue was a public attack upon the IMG (ref. c-54,
c-2), were considered proved, and they were referred to
our commission for recommendations. We note that two
comrades of the leadership appeared in Nottingham to
ask the comrades not to publish their journal but they
were told it was too late because it was already on the
press.

On the decision by the IMG National Committee to
publish a new Socialist Woman: a Tendency comrade
was present at that meeting, but none of the Nottingham
women involved in the Socialist Woman were present.
The new journal by decision of the IMG Women's Caucus
did not include any of the Nottingham women comrades;
later, by intervention of Comrade Petersen, Tendency com-
rades of Nottingham were invited to join the editorial
board, which they declined. The National Women's Cau-
cus of the IMG met in London. They invited the comrades
in Nottingham to attend, but the key comrades there
could not, for quite legitimate personal reasons which we
verified.

On the first charge, which involved the question of the
ownership and control of the journal Socialist Woman,
we find that the procedure followed by the IMG leader-
ship could only lead to a public scandal highly detri-
mental to the interests of the IMG.

On the second charge, which involves the refusal of
the Nottingham comrades to sign a public statement
prepared by the leadership: the comrades state that this
statement included a falsification. We find that whether
or not this statement included a falsification, it is not
in the tradition of our movement, to say the least, to
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compel comrades to sign a public statement which they
believe to be false.

Finally, referred to us was an appeal made by these
comrades to their National Committee against a motion
passed at the Nottingham branch which forbade them
to engage in any more women's work whatsoever.

We recommend that the IMG leadership drop all charges
against these women comrades, including the one acted
upon at the Nottingham branch meeting cited above.
We further recommend that the comrades involved be
permitted to work in the abortion campaign in accor-
dance with the motion passed at the National Committee
meeting of October 23/24, 1971 (ref. C-44), authorizing
work in the abortion campaign, under the control of
the National Committee and the political line of the IMG.
Relevant documentation on this case is attached (Ref.
M-11, M-13).

3. The Scottish cases.

This third example is what happened in the Glasgow
branch and the Edinburgh region (which includes the
Forth Valley branch). The Glasgow branch is located
in an important industrial center and is one of the older
branches of the IMG. Its record as a branch has been a
good one. It has been considered a model branch, and
according to Comrade Matthews (administrative secretary,
IMG), its financial record was good and its literature
sales record was a good one particularly with regard
to the IMG organ Red Mole. With the formation of the
youth movement, Spartacus League (SL), conflicts began
to develop between it and the IMG branch. These centered
around the issues of the antiwar work and the work among
women. Later, with the intervention of the national leader-
ship, the conflicts extended to the industrial work.

Prior to the IMG National Conference of June 1971,
these disputes were mostly of a local character but with
clearly national implications. During that time, the Politi-
cal Committee had sent a fact-finding commission to Glas-
gow to look into the disputes, and it recommended that
the comrades involved clarify their political positions (ref.
S-160, C-59). This was followed up by a letter from the
National Secretary to the branch, in which he advised
that the branch members declare themselves by joining
up either with the Tendency or the national majority,
and those who were not disposed to do either should
come off the fence and declare themselves one way or
the other (ref. T-8 Appendix 6, S-104).

Following the IMG National Conference of June 1971,
the majority of the Glasgow branch did precisely that
and joined up with the Tendency. The majority supporters
followed suit later and organized a majority caucus. Thus
the branch became formally polarized.

The IMG leadership intervened vigorously in the local
situation, ending with a series of disciplinary measures.
Close examination of this situation provided the clearest
evidence of the extent to which the norms of democratic
centralism were violated by the leadership of the IMG.
At the National Conference of the IMG in June 1971,
a Nomination Committee was set up to bring in a slate
for the incoming National Committee. This committee
dropped Comrade Campbell, one of the founders of the
IMG and active in the Glasgow branch, aswell as Comrade
Blair, organizer of the branch, nota member of the Tenden-
cy and also a founder of the IMG. This action of the
Nominating Committee led to further sharpening of the




factional atmosphere, because it was considered by the
Glasgow Tendency comrades as a factionally motivated
punitive measure (ref. T-8).

Following the National Conference, a strongly critical
note directed against the Glasgow branch by the editorial
board of the Red Mole was published in the Letter to the
Membership. This was answered by Comrade Blair as
organizer and his answer endorsed by the branch was
published in a subsequent Letter to the Membership. The
substance of this exchange was over the branch's apparent
failure to produce articles for the Red Mole on the "work
in" then taking place in the Upper Clydeside Shipyards
(UCS) (ref. T-8 Appendix 7). Moreover the UCS "work
in" was declared a number-one priority for the IMG, and
the Political Committee passed a resolution on this, making
intervention in UCS its responsibility. It must be men-
tioned that there was not then, nor is there now as far
as we can determine, a single member of the IMG working
in UCS.

The Political Committee sent two representatives to Glas-
gow to take full charge of the branch and its proposed
intervention into the UCS struggle. The representatives,
Comrades MacGovern and King, under full authority
of the Political Committee were mandated to ensure that
every member of the Glasgow branch give a written ex-
planation in advance if they were unable to participate
in any activity. No one could leave Glasgow without
permission of the Political Committee or its representa-
tives. With this background, there occurred the case of
Comrade Anderson which has been referred to us and
which we now examine. (Ref: C-52, T-8, C49, S-133,
S-136, M-15).

Comrade Anderson, a young trade unionist who worked
in a factory near UCS, but not part of it, was ordered
by a direct Political Committee decision to speak on the
UCS struggle at three separate public meetings in the
Glasgow area in accordance with the line delineated in
the Red Mole under the headline "The Occupation of Clyde-
side: First Step Towards the Scottish Workers' Republic?”
(Ref. C-54). Comrade Anderson explained that he did
not work in UCS and that he was not the appropriate
comrade to speak, considering that he didn't agree with
the line. He was further instructed by Comrade King,
the Political Committee representative, to make a national
tour of Great Britain and to present a resolution for adop-
tion by his Shop Stewards Committee, of which he was
convener. The resolution called for the workers of Comrade
Anderson's factory to occupy the factory for forty-eight
hours and to call upon the workers of Scotland to follow
their example. Hardly a minor resolution. This resolution
was given to Comrade Anderson just prior to the meeting
of the shop stewards withour prior consultation with him.
We could not question Comrade King on this since he
was not available. No one had taken the trouble to discuss
with Comrade Anderson the concrete circumstances of
his job (it was not part of UCS), nor his status on the
Shop Stewards Committee, etc.

We questioned Comrade MacGovern, and he confirmed
that he did not personally familiarize himself through
talking to Comrade Anderson with all the concrete facts
on the latter's employment, union situation, etc. (ref. S-131,
Interview by Fact-Finding Commission of MacGovern
on 2/21/72).

The entire procedure used with Comrade Anderson was
seen by the Tendency as arbitrary and factionally moti-

vated. It appeared to them that the national leadership
was using the UCS "work in" to create a climate of crisis
and panic, justifying arbitrary and abusive administra-
tive action.

Charges were brought against Comrade Anderson by
the IMG Secretariat, and he was summarily suspended
from membership by the Secretariat. He was notified of
this by mail in a letter from the Secretariat dated August
5, 1971 (ref. S-134). This was followed by a letter dated
August 12, 1971 (ref. S-133), regretting that the first letter
didn't clarify his actual status, which was here defined
as suspended from the branch, but occupying the position
of a "member-at-large." The branch protested and refused
to recognize this decision and permitted Comrade Ander-
son to attend its meeting despite the attempt of Comrade
King to prevent this. A telephone call to the National
Secretary received the response that Anderson could attend
the meeting but could not vote.

During his suspension, and in his absence, Comrade
Anderson was instructed to present a resolution to the
Glasgow Trades Council calling for support to a newly
formed Claimants Union branch. Comrade Anderson ex-
plained that this was his first meeting as a delegate and
that the rules of his union were that any resolution he
wished to introduce had first to be brought up in his
branch except in an emergency. He did not consider it
wise for him to be the maker of this resolution. Another
delegate was found to do this, and Comrade Anderson
voted for the resolution.

Comrade Anderson's case has been submitted to our
commission. We recommend that the action and charges
against Comrade Anderson be rescinded.

On August 15, 1971, Comrade King ordered Comrade
Ricardo to work full time to found a Claimants Union
branch. Comrade Ricardo was unemployed at the time
but was due to return to college in two weeks. Comrade
King refused to listen to the reasons advancedby Comrade
Ricardo for his refusal to perform this assignment. Com-
rade King was not available for verification. Charges
were presented by the IMG Secretariat to the National

- Committee at its meeting of September 5/6, 1971. The
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National Committee referred these charges to the Scottish
Committee which called an aggregate to hear the charges.
At the same time the Scottish Committee made further
charges against Comrade Ricardo and Comrade Ander-
son, as well as charges against every other Tendency
comrade in Scotland. These were the charges against
Comrade Stevens for allegedly refusing to pay dues owing
to the Spartacus League charges against Comrade Gylda
for his work in the antiwar movement, against Comrade
Lymond and Comrade Campbell for their work inside
the women's movement. (All these cases are documented
and attached to this report.) (Ref. T-8).

These charges and the acts of suspension or expulsion
that followed are in all cases badly tainted, in our opinion,
by the generally provocative climate that existed within
the Scottish branches (ref. S-208. [L]). A good example
of the climate can be seen by the action taken by the
Scottish aggregate at its meeting of August 21/22, 1971,
where four Tendency comrades were "severely" censured
for voting against some part of a resolution on the Ar-
gentine struggle at the National Conference of the IMG
(ref. T-8, Appendix 2). This was later declared out of
order by the IMG Political Committee and withdrawn.



PROPOSALS

The Fact-Finding Commission recommends that our
specific recommendations above (ie, the Harris case,
the Nottingham women's case, and the Anderson case)
be applied. That all the disciplinary measures taken against
Tendency comrades be rescinded. That the majority assure
the Tendency that the rules on recruiting new members
will be uniformly applied.

These serious steps taken by the leadership will establish
the best possible atmosphere to ensure that during the
present pre-conference discussion period, the Tendency
comrades will not only be given the opportunity to freely
participate but within a context where the entire member-
ship will be encouraged to listen objectively to all points
of view on the documents submitted for their considera-
tion to the National Conference.

We further recommend that the proposals unanimously
agreed to by Comrades Ghulam, Adair, Petersen, and
Williams at the November 1971, United Secretariat meet-
ing be seriously implemented [appended).

s/ Delphin
s/ Diego

s/ Gormley
s/ Martine

Motion passed at the November 1, 1971,
United Secretariat meeting

a) That every effort to be made to aid the integration
of Tendency members into meaningful political ac-
tivity. That Tendency members be given central re-
sponsibility in Latin American defense work and
major expansion of British circulation of Intercon-
tinental Press.

b) That Ghulam and Petersen lead in setting an atmo-
sphere among majority leaders conducive to pro-
moting this integration.

¢) That Adair submit a statement to the IMG National
Committee clarifying the position of Tendency on
Ricardo's suspension.

d) That the Fact-Finding Commission begin work as
soon as Diego and Gormley can make practical
arrangement. Meanwhile Petersen and Adair to finish
compiling presentation of written record.
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I. STATEMENTS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE FACT FINDING COMMISSION

A. Delphin Statement

I signed the final report of the Fact Finding Commis-
sion because on the level of the facts presented I am in
agreement with the document as a whole. This does not
mean that the document will help resolve the internal
problems of the IMG.

All four comrades worked within the limits imposed
on us by the resolution of the International Executive
Committee. In my opinion, our work was completed in
a correct manner and with the greatest possible integ-
rity on the part of all the commission members. But it
seems to me in retrospect that the decision to create such
a commission with such limited goals was an error, in
that it is absurd to investigate a struggle between po-
litical tendencies while limiting the investigation to the
facts alone, independent of their political and historical
context. The goal of everyone is not to liquidate a po-
litical tendency, but to aid the IMG's development within
the framework of the traditional principles of our move-
ment.

After having read the statement by Martine, the ma-
jority of which I concur with, I would like to summarize
in several points the way I view the evolution of the IMG.

1) We are not dealing with a "normal" tendency fight
but with a faction fight in which two currents confront
each other on almost all political problems. These two
currents remain together in the IMG solely because of
their ties to the Fourth International and its fundamental
program — a fact which is not unimportant.

In regard to this point also, I personally think that there
exists a certain generational conflict between a majority
which includes the forces of the new generation coming
into the 4th— sometimes with a genuine ultraleft bent—
and a tendency which is perhaps better educated polit-
ically, but which has a difficult time comprehending the
turn taken by the European sections in response to the
new revolutionary upsurge.

2) The sharpness of this factional struggle and the hos-
tile climate which stems from the depth of the political
differences, the sectarian traditions of British Trotsky-
ism, and from the political ties that each tendency has with
other sections of the International, within the framework
of the debate taking place in the world movement.

3) This having been said, the nonfraternal and some-
times irresponsible (e.g. Scotland) climate that exists in
this section is based on three sources:

a) Especially in the past there was an incorrect inter-
pretation of democratic centralism by numerous members
of the majority of the IMG, especially the leadership, which
did not provide the necessary education for the member-
ship on this question. It is not easy to guide a political
debate between tendencies in such a way as to guarantee
that it plays an educational role. In a Leninist organi-
zation it is always the duty of the majority, by defini-
tion (and especially when it is a large majority), to pro-
tect the rights of minorities— within the limits of the cor-

rect functioning of the organization. Leaders lead the
entire organization and not just one tendency. In this
respect, provocative actions, or actions without political
justification, were taken against the minority. (For ex-
ample, the Anderson case; mandatory signature of a pub-
lic self-criticism in Nottingham; the refusal to acknowledge
that the strength of a tendency is based on the number
of votes for a given document, etc.)

b) The irresponsible attitude of the leadership of the
SWP and the LSO/LSA which did not understand that
the IMG was a developing section. As in many Euro-
pean countries, it is composed of a new generation, with
its weaknesses but also with enormous successes, a gen-
eration creating for us a potential we have never before
had in the history of our movement. By repeated pub-
lic and internal attacks, by the choice of articles in Inter-
continental Press, by actions which were at best ill-con-
ceived even if completely legal (J. Steel affair, Alan Harris,
etc.), the leadership of the SWP and the LSA/LSO contrib-
uted to the deterioration of the climate and helped to
crystalize the bulk of the new recruits in an understandable
posture of self-defense.

¢) In such a political climate, the political weaknesses
which the leadership of the IMG had in the past led them
to respond to the Tendency by administrative measures
more than by political debate. This is all the more so,
in my opinion, because the majority spent too much time
constantly defining itself in relationship to the minority,
rather than independently developing its own political
line. This was damaging to both sides and prompted
the minority to develop provocative attitudes as is shown
by the case of the Nottingham leaflet attacking the pub-
lication of the London Socialist Woman.

By way of preliminary conclusions, I believe:

1) It is the responsibility of everyone to do whatever
possible to help the IMG continue its already significant
development. To that end the SWP should cease all erit-
icism of the IMG, recognize the leadership of the IMG
in fact. As it does with other sections, the SWP should
discuss points of disagreement directly with the IMG leader-
ship before raising them with anyone else. The leader-
ship of the IMG ought to stop the polemic with the SWP
in order to promote, if it wants to, a political debate
with the Tendency.

2) In IMG schools, the leadership of the IMG should
educate the membership — in theory and in practice— about
the nature of democratic centralism and how to conduct
political debate between tendencies in a revolutionary or-
ganization.

3) The minority should discuss with the majority the
precise arenas of activity where it is ready to take re-
sponsibilities and to play an active role, within the con-
text of the decisions of the IMG convention.

4) In response to a proposal of the IMG, two mem-
bers of the United Secretariat should be assigned to fol-
low the life of the IMG for several months. This is in
the interests of the IMG and in the interests of the Fourth
International. This does not imply bureaucratic control,
nor is it some kind of mark of distrust. But the errors
on each side have been too serious. The purpose is to




try to find a way for us to prevent a split which would
be catastrophic for the Trotskyist movement. The nexi
convention of the IMG may thus be decisive one way
or the other.

B. Diego Statement

The report to which this is attached is a bare-bone
summary of what we saw and the conclusions we reached
on the internal conflict within the British section.

I personally have some knowledge of the British move-
ment. I have followed its various fortunes from the days
of the RCP through the emergence of the SLL. I later
did a three-year stint as part of the international leader-
ship that sought to help the British comrades in their
efforts to consolidate the IMG in its formative years.

You can well understand my satisfaction as I watched
from afar the growth and development of the IMG during
the past few years. I took for granted that this section,
made up mostly of new and young comrades, would make
its own mistakes, hopefully learn from these and, with
help from the International and its collective experience,
carve out its own political space in the spectrum of the
British left to eventually gain hegemony as the genuine
voice and force of International Trotskyism in Britain.

During this latest assignment I became all the more
convinced that the opportunities for us during the present
conjuncture are limitless and that brilliant prospects are
within our grasp. The young cadres assembled inside this
section were on the whole impressive in their devotion and
dedication to their tasks. They were in this quite similar
to the young cadres elsewhere who have picked up the
banner of the International.

I found it all the more dismaying therefore to see a
fatal flaw within the IMG that threatens its very existence.
This must be dealt with honestly and directly in the spirit
of the old injunction —"say what is.”

I do not refer to the political differences that exist within
the section, which reflect in part the differences within
the International as a whole. These are serious, to be
sure, perhaps perfound.

I refer to how differences have been handled. And here
the responsibility lies directly in the hands of the leader-
ship. What we saw and what we read testifies to a mixture
or irresponsibility, incompetence and just plain bureau-
cratic arrogance.

The documents of the IMG are full of references to the
principles of "democratic centralism.” This is not some
abstract concept that more often than not is saluted in
a ritualistic way. It involves a scrupulous regard for the
democratic rights of the ranks. The IMG leadership is
fond of repeating that it is the right of the majority to
rule, and that is certainly true. But to have the right to
rule (or the right to exercise leadership) means to have
in the eyes of the ranks a moral authority. This in turn
reflects a mutual confidence. This does not exist in the
IMG. The moral authority of the present leadership is

seriously compromised. It has been put to the test in this
present dispute and it simply does not exist. This is the
fatal flaw.

Take for example the behavior of the national leadership
in the matter of the Scottish comrades. A "smash the Ten-
dency" campaign (ref: C-59) was decided upon in London
and several plenipotentiaries ticked off to travel there
and do the job. And when the members of the Tendency
resisted, they were entrapped and chopped down. This
is crystal clear in the Anderson and Ricardo cases. The
other cases were the work of the local body, the Scottish
Committee. This committee, set up with an exclusive ma-
jority leadership, went to work to eliminate the Tendency
in as direct a fashion as possible.

These are the "short cuts" referred to in the letter of the
leadership to the International (ref: M-11). The mistake
of the Scottish Committee was to correctly read the mean-
ing of the behavior of the London leadership and to figure
in forthright Scottish fashion that anything went in this
campaign to "smash the Tendency.” This is why the mil-
itant Grainger, a majority supporter, is so indignant in
his letter to the commission (ref: M-37), when he says:
"The Scottish Committee thus became the prosecuting agent
of the National Committee. (A role in which it was even-
tually betrayed.)' This is why Cde Mac ... .... (ref:
S-112) finally resigned. The entire gambit of London
encouragement, Scottish Committee action and London
admonition accompanied by a wink is the kind of small-
time bureaucratic fakery well-known in the labor move-
ment the world over.

Inevitably this is accompanied by the little incidents of
physical provocation. The breaking of the glass panel in
the door of a Tendency member's home by a group of
majority supporters seeking admission (ref: M-33), the
dart games in Edinburgh where the central target is the
name or picture of Joseph Hansen, editor of Interconti-
nental Press (not denied in our queries in Scotland). Or
the visit of a "committee” of majority supporters to the flat
of a Tendency comrade in London to intimidate him from
selling the IP at some IMG-sponsored meeting, warning
him cynically meanwhile that his protest will be meaning-
less since it will be based on verbal testimony (ref: M 32).
How far is this from such things as the physical assault
upon Ernie Tate by a group of SLL stewards in the pres-
ence of Gerry Healy, who later argued that he was merely
trying to restrain the stewards (to their honest indigna-
tion, no doubt)?

Or consider the meaning of the action of the leadership
in demanding that the Nottingham women sign a public
statement which they contended contained a falsehood.
These methods are not from our school, they are com-
pletely foreign to our tradition.

Preparation for this general campaign was accomplished
during the dispute over Pathfinder Press and Cde Harris.
At the heart of the entire dispute was the alleged role of
the SWP in the Pathfinder Press dispute. Examine the
correspondence between the SWP and IMG. The record
is quite clear and no complaint was put before the com-
mission. Nevertheless, the underground campaign against
the SWP was designed to smear the Tendency in the eyes
of the membership as "foreign agents." We heard much of
this during our stay in Britain. Let all these allegations
and fantastic stories that have poisoned the internal climate
of the IMG be ventilated. Put them on the table and let



them be examined.

I conclude by stating that what is involved here is of
direct significance to the future of the IMG. In a sense, it
is a direct challenge to the serious revolutionists within
the ranks and in the leadership to come to grips with the
problem of the internal health of the IMG.

C. Gormley Statement

I agree with the statement of the Fact Finding Com-
mission on its enquiry into the internal situation of the
International Marxist Group, but I think it necessary to
make one additional comment to give some background
into the situation in Scotland. It concerns the setting up
of the Spartacus League.

In initiating the formation of the new youth organiza-
tion, it seems to me the leadership of the IMG proceeded in
such an irregular manner that difficulties were bound to
arise. The leadership did not work out clearly, a priori,
the organizational relationship of the SL to the IMG, e.g.,
what would be the primary loyalty of an IMG member
who was also at the same time, a member of the SL
especially if that member was part of the national leader-
ship.

I do not know whether this problem created difficulties
in other parts of the country, but certainly in Scotland, in
Glasgow, it helped initiate organizational chaos. It was
ambiguity on this question that precipitated the so-called
crises in the branch which led to thefirst investigating com-
mission sent up from London before the Upper Clydeside
Shipyards occupation, and subsequently leading to the
branch being placed into a virtual state of receivership.
During this period, the leaders of the IMG branch were
complaining that IMG members who were also members
of the SL were being placed beyond the control (ie., dis-
cipline) of the Glasgow IMG branch. The local IMG lead-
ership claimed — and this was confirmed in our interviews
—SL members who were at the same time members of the
IMG and, moreover, part of the IMG national leadership,
had seriously criticized the Glasgow IMG leadership before
first having brought these criticisms into the local branch
of the IMG.

Such organizational procedures inevitably lead to dis-
asters. In this case, I'm in no doubt they contributed to
the creation of a highly charged factional atmosphere in
Glasgow and the breakdown in the relations between the
Tendency and the national leadership. It's true IMG leaders
will now, long after the event, say that they made "mis-
takes” in the way the SL was set up, but such admissions
do not in any way cancel out the results of those mistakes.
There is ample justification, in my opinion, for anyone
with minority views in Glasgow believing that the lead-
ership created these "mistakes" for narrow factional ends
to obscure serious political differences.

D. Martine Statement

I have signed the final report of the Fact-Finding Com-
mission on its investigation of the internal situation within
the IMG, because I agree in general with the facts presented
in this report and with the recommendations of the Com-
mission to withdraw all charges, disciplinary measures
or "expression of grave disapproval.”

The IMG leadership itself opened the way for the Fact-
Finding Commission to take a road which inevitably
must lead to a very one-sided report. When in a letter to
members from October 71 (not dated) the leadership writes:
"The National Committee has requested the International
Executive Committee of the FI to establish a commission
to investigate activities of the Tendency within the British
section,” and when Comrade Petersen in his "Introduction
to documents concerning the Tendency in the IMG" (no
date) writes: "The United Secretariat can best help by:
a) making it clear that it does not sanction nor acquiesce
to the breaking of discipline by supporters of international
minorities; and b) setting into motion an international
control commission which should concentrate on taking
evidence from rank and file members (.. .)," then this
IMG leadership approves of a very one-sided way of tak-
ing into account the political reality of the British section
of the Fourth International. This reality, in the report
of the Fact-Finding Commission, then becomes dissolved
one-sidedly into pure formalism which is coloured by
speaking of the "highly factional atmosphere that created
prejustice against members of the Tendency." It is coloured
further with the statement that "we take note of the encour-
aging fact that despite this bad internal climate members
of the Tendency remained inside the IMG,” which is said,
is "testimony to the fact that they are loyal to the Inter-
national." And in the conclusion, which I consider in this
form absolutely irrelevant, there again we find the crea-
tion of "highly factional climate that marked the internal
life of the section"—creation of the IMG leadership. We
were asked very explicitly not to enter into the political
differences between the IMG majority and the Tendency,
and we did not do so. But let me mention a very impor-
tant fact, confirmed to us by both the comrades of the
majority as well as the Tendency, especially in Glasgow:
There are political differences on almost all internal po-
litical points, and Comrade Anderson from the Glasgow
Tendency went as far as waving some sheets of paper
and telling us that there are even more political differences
as can be seen till now; that they will come out during
the pre-annual conference discussion. It appeared to us—
Comrades Gormley and Diego did not contradict com-
rades Delphin and Martine on this —that almost the only
agreement between both sides rests in being members of
the Fourth International and therefore being members of
the British section of the world organization.

In this sense we have to see clearly that we do not face
a tendency of a traditional nature inside one of our orga-
nizations; we face the roots of two organizations, both
linked to currents inside the Fourth International.

I don't think that it is necessary to point out the links
of the IMG majority to the majority line of the Fourth
International. That there are links between the Tendency
and the minority inside the Fourth International, especial-
ly on political lines does in my opinion not need to be



proved either. It is most obvious in the women work and
its line on this question of the Tendency. These links in
themselves are within the rules of democratic centralism,
but this phenomenon deteriorates when it comes to the
point, where the former secretary of the SWP, co-thinkers
of the Fourth International, states in front of the Fact-
Finding Commission, that the IMG leadership has now
"declared war on us,” meaning the critical remarks of
Comrade Ross about some SWP slogans, in a pre-con-
ference discussion document, while they consider it per-
fectly normal, when Comrade Hansen in his pre-WC dis-
cussion document (International Information Bulletin Nr.
3, April 1971), titled "In Defense of the Leninist Strategy
of Party Building," writes: "In seeking the source of the
ultrared coloration of the IMG, the personal inclinations
of the majority of (the IMG's) leaders should not be taken
as the decisive determinant. It can hardly be questioned
that some of them feel more comfortable in a red T-shirt
adorned with their totem than in less imaginative dress"
(p. 29).

I don't want to go here into the merits of calling one
another "right wing" or "ultraleftists,” i.e., I am not judg-
ing political lines here. Comrades, however, should bear
in mind, that a leadership which is constantly called "ul-
tra-left” will start to fight back with the same kind of
weapon, calling the other "right wing,” which of course
says as little about a political line as the generality of
ultra-leftism.

To come back to the frequently mentioned "bad atmo-
sphere” inside the British section. It is certainly true that
this bad atmosphere exists, and it is true as well, that it
is rather difficult to analyse an atmosphere through pure
facts. It is part of the reality of the British section which
the Fact-Finding Commission, the way its work was de-
termined, is not able to fully translate to the comrades
of the United Secretariat.

In no way however can I agree that this atmosphere
in the report of the Commission then is mentioned only
as highly provocative and created like that by the IMG
leadership against the minority.

When comrade Campbell of the Glasgow Tendency at
a brahch meeting on August 31, 1971, states: "In reply
to comrad® Blair's question as to whether anything is to
be noted I state that what is to be noted is the continuing
betrayal of the Vietnamese revolution by the 'International’
Marxist Group,” then we have to ask ourselves, even if
this statement was taken back later as being said in the
heat of the moment—how a comrade can still want to be
[a] member of an organization of which there even could
be doubt, if it does not betray the Vietnamese revolution.
Comrade Campbell in the report of the FFC is referred
to as "a founder of the IMG," and I have no reason to
question this. Isn't it a provocative behaviour when one
of the oldest comrades of the Nottingham branch acts
in such a way towards a majority of comrades who en-
tered the IMG not very long ago through its youth orga-
nization, the Spartacus League?

Isn't it a provocative behaviour, when Comrade Camp-
bell in a Red Circle in Glasgow on November 25th, which
had as subject the Russian Revolution, instead of con-
tributing to the discussion on the subject, starts criticising
the speaker, Comrade Freeman with the words: "male

comrades at the demonstration for male chauvinism, at-
tempting to sabotage the demonstration, failing to under-
stand the nature of the oppression of women and using
their influence as males over women to dissuade women
from demonstrating"? The occasion was a women's dem-
onstration on abortion in Glasgow, in which male com-
rades "were allowed" to participate, and which by majority
vote did not take place in the street because of storm,
rain and snow, but was transferred to the university.
When male comrades of the IMG want to "sabotage" a
demonstration and use their "influence as males to dis-
suade women from demonstrating,” isn't this, if it would
really be true, a reason to leave such an organization?

When comrade Anderson from Glasgow, refusing to put
forward in the trade union of which he is convener, does
not demand a political discussion on the contents of the
resolution, but votes for it after it is presented by a PC
member, then I certainly would call this a politically
irresponsible attitude which does not help to create a
"better atmosphere.”

When comrade A. Harris, referred to in the report of
the FFC as founding member of the IMG, and who is a
member of the IEC and the United Secretariat, states at
the November 71 National Committee of the IMG that he
will not apply to discipline, and reaffirms this statement
at the November United Secretariat meeting (see minutes
of November NC of IMG) then I call this creating a
highly provocative atmosphere.

When the Tendency comrades of Nottingham state to the
FFC that they were not informed of the decision of setting
up an IMG paper Socialist Woman sufficiently in advance
and that nobody discussed with them the application of the
October NC resolution on the subject and we then see
the copy of the letter of Comrade Valerie Mollan from
Nottingham to Leonora Lloyd in which is stated that the
whole Nottingham women's group "feel that it would serve
no useful purpose either to you or to us, for you to come
all the way to Nottingham ... ," does this then show
willingness on behalf of the Nottingham Tendency, the
majority of them comrades who are in the movement
or the IMG longer than many comrades of the present
IMG leadership, to submit to discipline of the IMG lead-
ership and apply the majority line? Does it show willing-
ness to ease the "bad atmosphere™?

The same comrades of the Nottingham Tendency pre-
sent to the FFC a witness of the former Socialist Woman
Group, non-member of the IMG who tells us that the first
thing she heard of the new SW journal of the IMG was
the advertisment in Red Mole. Would it have not been the
task of the Tendency comrades who led the SWG, as mem-
bers of the IMG to discuss this question with the members
of the SWG even if they were in disagreement with bringing
out a new journal?

Was it necessary for the Tendency comrades in Notting-
ham who had the editorial board of Socialist Woman
in their hands, to either insert or agree to the insertion of
a fly-leaf in the last issue of the Socialist Woman, in which
they state that they have nothing whatsoever to do with
the new journal?

I shall stop here which however does not mean that I
could not go on. These are only some examples of long-
standing and experienced comrades of the Tendency be-
having in a highly provocative way towards the IMG
majority.




It is very formalist to state, as the report of the FFC
does, that the IMG leadership bears themajor responsibility
of the deterioration in the [internal] situation within the
IMG. Comrades of the Tendency have at least the same
amount of political experience and organizational know-
how as the IMG-leadership. Certain comrades of the Ten-
dency have more, and it is their responsibility as well and
to the same extent when today we find deterioration of the
internal life inside the IMG.

When comrade King is cited today as one of the negative
examples inside the leadership of the IMG, bringing with
him the whole ballast of his Healy past, then I would like
to state that Comrade Connie from the Tendency has
exactly the same past and should be cited as well.

At last I would like to ask our overseas comrades and
co-thinkers to ask themselves if through their constant
observation of the IMG, their personal links to the mi-
nority and their political intervention they don't feel at
least partly responsible for the deterioration of the IMG's
internal life? No other section of the Fourth International
in the last 10 years has received such a heavy attention
by the SWP and the LSA/LSO, than the IMG. It is only
normal that a young section like the IMG feels exposed
to the whole world movement with every step it takes. It
would be time to leave the past, where we did not have
a British section and help through the International was
necessary. Today we have a section in Britain which is
well able to take care of itself. This section, like every
other one— and especially every other young one—will
learn through its own activities and its own mistakes.
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Il. STATEMENTS OF INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE UNITED SECRETARIAT

A. Statement of Walter, Pierre, Livio,
Petersen, Kurt, Delfin, Pia and Ghulam

(The following addition accompanies Pia's signature: My
signature does not imply any criticism of the Fact-Finding
Commission, which fulfilled its difficult task wvalidly; I
view the statement as a political supplement to the Fact-
Finding Commission Report.)

While we entirely concur with the conclusions of the
Fact-Finding Commission on the organizational differ-
ences in the British section of the Fourth International, we
regret that the way in which the report is drafted does
not permit the reader to obtain a completely balanced
picture on the background of these sanctions. This lack
of balance is only partially corrected by the statements of
the commission members which accompany the report.
For that reason, we deem it necessary to make this state-
ment, to accompany the Fact-Finding Commission Report
and the unanimous recommendations of the United Sec-
retariat.

1. The concrete application of the rules of democratic
centralism in the process of party building distinguishes a
Leninist party from any other type of party on the orga-
nizational level. Obviously, Marxists cannot dissociate
organizational forms from political program. Neverthe-
less, historical experience has confirmed the autonomous
importance of organizational principles.

These principles involve a series of rules and procedures
which establish the general framework for the application
of democratic centralism. But democratic centralism cannot
be reduced to a set of formal rules.

Leninists believe in full democratic rights for minorities
and freedom of discussion and tendencies, not for moral
or formal reasons, but because they are convinced that
there is no guarantee that a majority —or any specific
group of leading cadre—is always right Full democracy
inside the party is, in the first place, a functional need, a
precondition for working out a correct political line, which
can only result from frank and open debates. It is also
functional for maintaining the unity of the party, for
making sure that comrades turn to the party and not out-
side the party when they have problems or differences to
discuss, for making sure that the energy of all members
is always turned toward party building. Authority ulti-
mately comes from the respect engendered through ex-
perience.

Leninists believe likewise in full majority rule, in the
right of the leadership elected by the majority to lead the
organization, and in the normal duty of the majority to
apply the majority line in public. Once again they do so
not for formal or moral reasons but because there is no

other way to check in practice whether a majority line
is correct or not, and to reopen the debate at a later
stage on a higher level of experience. Not only is sub-
mission to majority rule in public activity the necessary
precondition for harnessing all the party's energies to-
wards identical objectives in combat, but it is also a clear
indication of the basic loyalty of minorities. For what a
refusal to submit to party discipline in public activity
really expresses is that the minority has been convinced
that by applying its line in public it can win more sup-
porters outside the party than it can inside the party,
after having won the membership's respect through its
disciplined behavior. It must be stressed however that
except in the most exceptional historical circumstances,
comrades should never be asked to present a line in publie
with which they disagree.

2. Most of the considerations included in the Fact-Find-
ing Commission's report start from the assumption that
the main responsibility for upholding the principles of
democratic centralism inside a Leninist organization lies
with the leadership. There can be no dispute about this.
But it cannot be applied in a mechanical way, without
taking into consideration concrete circumstances.

The International Marxist Group is a very young orga-
nization, hardly five years old, which has grown rapidly
during the last two years. An important part of the leader-
ship has been in the organization only a short time. Under
these circumstances to put the blame for all the organi-
zational incidents on the majority in a one-sided manner,
judging not on the basis of a concrete examination of the
mechanics and background of each incident, but rather
on the basis of the general abstract rule that on principle
the main responsibility lies with the majority, does not
permit an understanding of the real internal process in-
side the IMG.

There is no doubt that the IMG leadership has made
many mistakes in regard to the minority and that most
of the sanctions taken are indefensible. But there is also
no doubt that minority comrades have behaved in a
provocative way in several instances. When the leadership
of the minority states that it would not recognise sus-
pensions decided by the majority, such a statement clearly
challenges the right of the leadership to lead the organi-
zation. When a leader of the minority takes the initiative
of setting up a political book service without the previous
agreement of the party leadership, this again indicates a
very clear attitude towards this leadership. Under these
circumstances the question whether the formal rules were
or were not broken can at the very least not be the only
one posed. One can easily acknowledge that the minority
has operated more capably within these rules. Whether
they respected the general principle of majority rule and
abstained from any provocation towards a young and
still partially immature leadership —that is an entirely
different matter.



B. Statement of Hans, Juan,
Adair, Therese, Pedro

The members of the Fact-Finding Commission reached
a unanimous conclusion concerning the responsibility of
the majority leadership for the violations of the norms
of democratic centralism in the International Marxist
Group. The members of the Fact-Finding Commission
were also unanimous in recommending that the disciplin-
ary measures taken by the majority leadership should be
rescinded. In light of the evidence gathered by the Fact-
Finding Commission, we agree that these conclusions
were correct, and we would commend the Fact-Finding
Commission on the thoroughness of its investigation and
the objectivity of its general conclusion.

Our statement is intended merely to indicate where we
disagree with the criticisms leveled against the report of
the Fact-Finding Commission by Walter, Pierre, Livio,
Petersen, Kurt, Delfin, Pia and Ghulam.

1. The commission was not set up to "obtain a com-
pletely balanced picture on the background of these sanc-
tions." It was set up on the initiative of the IMG majority
leadership and with the approval of the United Secretariat
"for the purpose of investigating the internal situation in
the British section and to report back to the United Sec-
retariat the circumstances and the actions which led to a
series of disciplinary measures taken against members
of a minority tendency. . . ." The Commission was also
asked to make recommendations on specific disciplinary
measures. Within the circumscribed scope of the inquiry
the members of the commission were correct in taking
the position that they could not permit themselves "to
become involved in the political disputes existing within
the section." Documentation on the political disputes is
ample and easily available What had to be investigated
was the source of the intensely factional atmosphere and
the disciplinary measures taken against the minority. In
short, the inquiry concerned whether the norms of demo-
cratic centralism were being upheld in the IMG or were
being violated.

2. The Fact-Finding Commission found that "the leader-
ship of the IMG bears the major responsibility for the
deterioration in the internal situation within the IMG."
The conclusion implies that the minority shared some
responsibility. It is obvious from this that the commission
sought to reach a balanced, not "one-sided,” judgment.

A balanced judgment does not mean determining how
to assign equal responsibility to both sides. One side
consisted of a minority seeking through political argument
to gain a majority to its views. The other side consisted
of a majority that represented more than a grouping
inside the IMG; it held responsibility for leadership in the
organization as a whole, and in this position it held the
power to impose organizational measures besides arguing
for its group views. As the leadership of the IMG, the
majority held a special responsibility to safeguard the
democractic rights of the minority. The majority leader-
ship did not safeguard the democratic rights of the minor-
ity. It imposed organizational measures. Moreover, these
measures constituted gross violations of the norms of
democratic centralism. The Fact-Finding Commission cited
three flagrant instances, and presented major pieces of

evidence concerning them. The Commission thus came to
its conclusions not because of a "general abstract rule
that on principle the main responsibility lies with the
majority." It based its conclusions on a series of specific
instances all involving concrete violations of the norms
of democratic centralism which the majority was duty
bound to uphold.

3. In their statement, Walter, Pierre, Livio, Petersen,
Kurt, Delfin, Pia and Ghulam seek to excuse the abuses
committed by the majority leadership of the IMG on the
grounds that the IMG is "a very young organization,"
that it has a "young and still partially immature leader-
ship,” and that an "important part of the leadership has
been in the organization only a short time."

It is an error for the leaders of the Fourth International
to take a paternalistic attitude toward younger leaders,
who today make up the bulk of the leadership of the
sections. To adapt to the mistakes they make or to excuse
or wink at practices alien to our movement miseducates
the whole new generation being won to the Trotskyist
movement. When comrades are entrusted with leadership
roles, they must shoulder the full responsibilities of leader-
ship. That is the only way it can be in the revolutionary
Marxist movement.

The truth is that an important part of the IMG majority
leadership is well seasoned; it has been in the Trotskyist
movement for a long time. This sector failed to oppose
the violations of the norms of democratic centralism. In
fact the evidence gathered by the Commission shows that
this sector was chiefly responsible for initiating the mea-
sures that were in violation of the norms of democratic
centralism.

4. The main criticism leveled by Walter, Pierre, Livio,
Petersen, Kurt, Delfin, Pia and Ghulam is that although
two members expressed views on the question, the Fact-
Finding Commission as a whole did not investigate or in-
dicate the political background to the "sanctions” taken
against the minority. However, such matters were beyond
the scope of inquiry set for the Commission, as indicated
above.

A much more important area of inquiry —if the Com-
mission's work were to have been expanded — would have
been determination of the character of the organizational
measures employed against the minority and the meaning
of this for the Fourth International. On the face of it, it
is absolutely clear that the actions taken against the minor-
ity were alien to the norms and traditions of the Trotskyist
movement. In what category, then, do they fall? One of
the members of the Commission, Comrade Diego, who has
had some forty years experience in the Trotskyist move-
ment, put it down as "a mixture of irresponsibility, in-
competence and just plain bureaucratic arrogance.”" In the
procedures followed in the Scottish cases, he was struck
by their resemblance to "the kind of small-time bureau-
cratic fakery well-known in the labor movement the world
over." From his knowledge of the British Trotskyist move-
ment, which goes back thirty years or so, he noted the
resemblance of some of the violations of proletarian democ-
racy to those practiced by the Socialist Labour League.
Indeed, to what school belong such practices as demand-
ing that comrades sign a public statement containing
what they consider to be falsehoods, as entrapping mem-
bers of a minority (Scottish cases), as removing the lead-
ership of a branch solely because it was won over to a
minority position, as censuring members for the way they



voted at a National IMG Conference, as censuring mem-
bers without filing charges against them or giving them
a hearing, as engaging in acts of physical provocation?
In the case of the Socialist Labour League our movement
has pointed out that such practices belong to the school
of Stalinism. Can we be less honest in judging the import
of something similar happening in a section of the Fourth
International?

We do not believe that the leaders of the IMG majority
consciously borrowed from the school of Stalinism. We
think that they did not grasp the meaning of what they
were doing. Nevertheless a most disturbing question re-
mains: How is it to be explained that the majority leader-
ship in a Trotskyist organization fell into such a pattern?
And how could Walter, Pierre, Livio, Petersen, Kurt, Delfin,
Pia, and Ghulam reach a position of trying to rationalize
mistakes of such magnitude on grounds of the inexpe-
rience, immaturity, and lack of capacity of the majority
leadership, and—still worse—on grounds that "minority
comrades have behaved in a provocative way in several
instances"? Are the victims fo be blamed for violations
of their rights because they "provoked" the authorities?

Yes, some very big questions are raised by a careful
reading of the evidence assembled by the Fact-Finding
Commission. However, they are not of the nature sug-
gested by the statement of Walter, Pierre, Livio, Petersen,
Kurt, Delfin, Pia and Ghulam.

5. In our opinion, the majority leadership of the Inter-
national Marxist Group now faces a considerable chal-
lenge—that of rooting out the type of procedures that
led to the deplorable situation found by the Fact-Finding
Commission. The loyal and sincere implementation of
the unanimous recommendations of the Fact-Finding Com-
mission and the United Secretariat would be a big step
in meeting that challenge.



lll. CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN THE SOCIALIST WORKERS PARTY (SWP)
AND THE INTERNATIONAL MARXIST GROUP (IMG)
CONCERNING PATHFINDER PRESS/ALAN HARRIS DISPUTE

14 Charles Lane
New York, N. Y. 10014

February 8, 1971

LONDON
Pat Jordan

Dear Pat,

Enclosed is a motion adopted by the Political Com-
mittee of the Socialist Workers Party at its meeting of
February 5.

It and the attached documentation have been circulated
to our National Committee.

Comradely,
Jack Barnes
Organization Secretary

cc: Ghulam
Adair
Maude
Ernest

SWP POLITICAL COMMITTEE MOTION
Adopted February 5, 1971

The Political Committee of the Socialist Workers Party
voices the following opinion in relation to the facts made
available in the correspondence between Comrade Pat
Jordan, the National Secretary of the IMG; Comrade
Jack Barnes, the Organization Secretary of the SWP; a
copy of the November 28, 1970, statement by Comrade
Alan Harris to the Political Committee and National Com-
mittee of the IMG; and the memorandum by Comrade
Joseph Hansen:

1. The majority of the National Committee of the IMG
abused its authority in censuring Comrade Alan
Harris.

a) It failed to notify Comrade Harris in advance that
he was to be placed on trial.

b) It failed to grant him a hearing when his case
came up for consideration.

¢) It notified the IMG of its disciplinary action against
Comrade Harris in a way calculated to prejudice
the membership against him.

2. The majority of the National Committee of the IMG
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further abused its authority by singling out Comrade
Harris for disciplinary action in a field in which
it does not at present subject the membership as
a whole to disciplinary action; that is, the way in
which they make their livelihood.

. The majority of the National Committee of the IMG
further abused the objective norms of democratic
centralism by taking these organizational reprisals
against a leader of a minority that has expressed
political criticisms of the majority and argued for
a different line from the one followed by the ma-
jority.

. After the promising beginning earlier in the year,
which appeared to represent a decided break with
the antidemocratic methods that have plagued the
British Trotskyist movement in the past, the ma-
jority of the National Committee of the IMG, by
resorting to organizational reprisals against a lead-
ing member of the minority, has raised a serious
question as to the possibility of conducting a gen-
uinely free discussion in the IMG.

The Political Bureau
Socialist Workers Party
NY

Dear Comrades:

The following resolution was passed at the last meet-
ing of the National Committee of the IMG (held over
the weekend of 25/26 July 1970):

The National Committee censures Comrade Alan
Harris for his unilateral action re Leader Books and
requests the United Secretariat to investigate the mat-
ter immediately because it will otherwise result in a
serious deterioration of relations between two sections
of the International. The NC empowers the Secretariat
(IMG Secretariat) to carry out an amalgamation of
Leader Books and Red Books under the control of
the IMG.

N.B. Bearing in mind the legal position of the SWP
it should be pointed out that this resolution in no way
implies that the SWP is affiliated to the Fourth Inter-
national.

We must explain that this resolution was passed after
the committee had received a report of the informal dis-
cussions on Leader Books between Joe Hansen and com-
rades Ali and Jordan.

We cannot accept that there is any problem in "explain-
ing to Pathfinder Books" that Red Books would be tak-



ing over distribution of its publications from Alan Har-
ris. This being the case we are confronted with a posi-
tion where the SWP refuses to supply publications to the
official bookshop of the British Section, but instead in-
sists on supplying them direct to a member of the mi-
nority tendency of the IMG.

We would ask you to consider a hypothetical case:
Suppose that the IMG, as publishers of a large number
of books by Trotsky, etc., refused to supply them to the
SWP but insisted that these be distributed in the United
States via a minority tendency (which for instance might
take the position that the YSA should advance the slo-
gan "Victory to the NLF" on mass demonstrations).

We think that in a case like this that you could be under-
stood if you thought that the IMG was trying to support
a minority — politically and with resources— of the SWP.
We think that you could be understood if you considered
this to be a gross violation of the democratic centralist
norms and an attempt to get round the democratic pro-
cedures and processes of the SWP.

We do not accept the argument that a book distribu-
tion centre (we do not want to get into semantic argu-
ments about bookshops and import-export agencies) is
not a political centre. Selling books, having an address
list and a manned office amounts to having a political
centre. This has always been recognised as such by the
movement. This is why the IMG national committee re-
solved—just prior to its National Conference— that its
bookshop would be completely under democratic central-
ist norms (it should be added that this position was ap-
proved by the conference).

We ask you to fully co-operate with us in implement-
ing the above resolution. We want to avoid confusing
political issues with an organisational wrangle and would
ask you to help us to remove this organisational dif-
ficulty. We would point out that such affairs as the cre-
ation of Leader Books is in complete violation of the
decision of the National Committee of the IMG makes
more difficult an objective political discussion. We hope
that no one thinks that the minority tendency of the IMG
will be strengthened by such actions. Quite the reverse:
this tendency will become even more isolated the more
it appears to be trying to circumvent the democratic norms
of the IMG.

We should point out that this tendency is widely con-
sidered to be in solidarity with the SWP's criticisms of
the majority position in the International. We would recall
to your attention that this tendency first manifested it-
self when its leader, Comrade Susan Williams, appealed
to the British delegation at the last world congress to be
seated for the discussion on China in order to cast her
vote against the majority. Furthermore it is well known
that: a) about half the members of the tendency are ex-
members of a section which supports the minority posi-
tion in the International; b) that leading comrades sent
from North America to participate in the work of the
International played the leading part in founding the
tendency; and c) that Alan Harris is a member of the
United Secretariat designated by the previously mentioned
section. Taking into account all these circumstances we
think it would be in the best interests of a clear political
discussion to avoid any action which could be construed
as using organisational means to support a political mi-
nority. .

We should add that we are going to pursue this mat-
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ter in the United Secretariat because relationships between
Trotskyists in different countries is involved.

We would ask for the earliest possible reply to the ques-
tions we have raised in this letter. We are going ahead
with plans for the amalgamation of Red Books and Lead-
er Books under the political control of the IMG. An early
reply from you could help clarify things but we will be
obliged to operate our democratically decided decisions
as- soon as possible We cannot procrastinate because
of the serious state of affairs (our political opponents
are well aware that Leader Books operates independently
from our organisation).

We intend to pursue this matter in an extremely seri-
ous manner: The British Trotskyist movement has suf-
fered in the past from lack of understanding of the mean-
ing of democratic centralism as applied to the task of
building a mass section of an international revolution-
ary party. We would be failing in our duty of helping
to construct a mass section of the FI in Britain if we
did not take immediate and decisive steps to nip this
situation in the bud.

We ask you to give us an undertaking that you will
supply our bookshop with your publications without in-
sisting that we purchase them from a concern which has
been set up in violation of our democratically decided
decision.

Revolutionary greetings,
s/ Pat Jordan

London. August 22, 1970

To the United Secretariat of the Fourth International.

Dear Ernest,

The National Committee of the IMG at its July 25/
26th meeting passed the following motion: ". . . that this
NC censures Comrade A. Harris for his unilateral ac-
tion re Leader Books and requests the US to investigate
the matter immediately. . . ."

I wish to make a formal protest to the US that such
a resolution was passed against me and in my absence.

I was not invited to attend the relevant part of the NC
meeting in order to state why such a motion should not
be passed. Nor was I informed that any such motion
was to be considered by the NC.

To pass a motion of censure, behind the back of the
comrade concerned, is a violation of the democratic norms
of our movement. The more so when that comrade is
known to hold a minority view on a number of ques-
tions.

Further, the manner in which I was informed of the
NC decision makes the matter even more shocking.

I formally learned that the NC had passed a motion
of censure against me on August 12 when the Letter to
Members were distributed to the London branch and when
Leader Books was placed on the branch agenda at the
request of the branch executive committee.

1 do not accept the motion of censure against me be-



cause I deny that by setting up Leader Books I have
in any way acted against the principles and spirit of
democratic centralism. I the majority of the NC think
that I have violated democratic centralism, serious enough
to warrant a motion of censure then they are duty bound
to proceed with charges against me.

I therefore request that the question of my censure by
the NC of the IMG be put on the agenda of the next
meeting of the United Secretariat.

with revolutionary greetings,
Alan Harris

c.c. Pat Jordan

Statement to the Political Committee on the letter to the
SWP Political Bureau dated 31 July 1970.

Since the content of the letter to the Political Committee
of the SWP is as yet for the information of the NC mem-
bers, the tendency has not met to discuss this letter
although large parts of it directly concern the tendency
and serious allegations are made against it.

Four members of the tendency, three who are full mem-
bers of the NC and the other an alternate member, protest
most strongly against the contents of the letter sent to
the Political Committee of the SWP. In our opinion it
is a scandalous letter —full of unsubstantiated allegations,
untruths and irrelevencies—and can only be motivated
by dead-end factionalism.

Under the pretext of writing the SWP on the question
of the sale of Trotskyist literature in Britain an outra-
géous attack has been made on the tendency in a manner
which is quite alien to the democratic norms of the
Trotskyist movement. .

The method of substituting slanders for political polemics
is not a new one and the 4th International has a long
tradition and an exemplary record of struggle against
this method.

The majority leadership of the IMG will only be able
to come to grips with the political problems confronting
the IMG by ensuring that a democratic and non-factional
atmosphere prevails throughout the IMG so that the po-
litical ideas can be discussed in an objective manner.

We ask, what is the purpose of such irrelevancies as
to how S Williams cast her vote at the last world con-
gress; whether some members of the tendency have been
members of another section at some time or another or
have even played a role in the formation of the tendency?
Is the purpose of these irrelevancies to create a feeling
that comrades joining the IMG with previous membership
in another section are "foreigners” whose loyalty to the
IMG and the F.L is in question? We doubt this can be
the purpose because there are of course, many members
of the IMG who have previously been membeérs of other
sections and who support the majority. The purpose of
these irrelevancies can only be an attempt to create an
atmosphere wherein the loyalty of minority members is
in question.

Such methods do not guarantee a democratic and non-
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factional atmosphere in which to discuss the political ques-
tions facing us in the IMG.

For our part we welcome comrades who join the IMG
with experiences and previous membership in other sec-
tions of our international movement, and certainly do
not question the loyalty of such comrades to the IMG
regardless of whether they support the majority or minor-
ity positions. According to the letter, the tendency " . . .
is widely considered to be in solidarity with the SWP's
criticisms of the majority position in the International.”
We do not know the basis of such a statement. The po-
litical programme of the tendency is no secret. It is doc-
umented, for everyone to read, in the tendency statements
and documents written in the pre-conference discussion
bulletins of the 1970 conference of the IMG. As yet, the
tendency has not discussed the international questions,
but if it should do so, and if it did support the minority
positions, so what? Would this be a disloyal act or a
violation of democratic centralism? Does loyalty demand
support for majority positions?

The letter states that " ... this tendency will become
even more isolated the more it appears to be trying to
circumvent the democratic norms of the IMG." What does
this mean? The tendency is either circumventing the dem-
ocratic norms of the IMG or it isn't. If it is, then the
leadership has the responsibility to lay charges and sub-
stantiate them. Otherwise it must refrain from making such
wild and unsubstantiated allegations. The leadership must
conduct itself in such a manner that it is clearly seen
to be the defender and guarantor of minority rights.

As stated at the last NC meeting, Leader Books has
not been set up by the tendency. It is not a political
centre for the tendency and any suggestion that another
section is materially aiding the tendency in order for it
to have its own political centre is too serious an allegation
to be raised in the irresponsible manner that it has and
is another form of the "Paris gold” myth.

The letter should therefore be withdrawn and a further
letter sent to the Political Committee of the SWP to inform
it of the motion passed by the majority NC and referred
to the United Secretariat for action.

Huff
Sands
Scott
Williams

23 August 1970

873 Broadway
2nd floor south
New York, N.Y. 10003

September 14, 1970

Dear Comrade Jordan,

I just received the copy of your letter addressed to "The
Political Bureau Socialist Workers Party." We had learned
of the existence of this letter but were in the dark as to



its content. We note that the copy you sent us is undated.

In accordance with your request, I will place the motion
passed by the National Committee of the International
Marxist Group, along with your comments, on the agenda
for consideration by the Political Committee of the So-
cialist Workers Party.

To help the Political Committee properly weigh the ques-
tions you have raised, I would appreciate clarification
from you on the following two points:

1. You maintain that the private wholesale export-import
book agency set up by Alan Harris constitutes a "political
centre," that this center was opened up by a minority ten-
dency in your group, and that this was in "gross violation"
of the norms of democratic centralism. You imply, more-
over, that the Socialist Workers Party played a key role
in inspiring the formation of this minority tendency in the
IMG "politically and with resources,” and that the estab-
lishment of Leader Books by Alan Harris is in reality
an attempt by the SWP "to get round the democratic pro-
cedures and processes” of the IMG.

In face of such allegations, am I correct in drawing
the conclusion that in your opinion the Socialist Workers
Party has departed from the traditions of Trotskyism;
that it has, so to speak, "degenerated” and can no longer
be regarded as a fraternal organization so far as the
majority leadership of the IMG is concerned?

2. You state that Red Books has been named as "the
official bookshop of the British Section,” that "the creation
of Leader Books is in complete violation of the decision
of the National Committee of the IMG," that "selling books,
having an address list and manned office amounts to
having a political centre,” and that your National Com-
mittee has empowered the IMG Secretariat "to carry out
an amalgamation of Leader Books and Red Books under
the control of the IMG," with which you ask us to "fully
co-operate.” Does this mean that you have placed a ban
on any of your members, except those that meet with the
political approval of the majority of your National Com-
mittee, from making their livelihood by selling books and
other literature, particularly the books and literature gen-
erally regarded as "Trotskyist"?

An early reply from you on these points, so that they
can be considered by the Political Committee of the So-
cialist Workers Party in conjunction with the organization-
al complaint registered in your letter, will be greatly ap-
preciated.

Fraternally,
s/ Jack Barnes
Organization Secretary
Socialist Workers Party
cc: United Secretariat
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September 26th, 1970

Jack Barnes,
Organisational Secretary,
Socialist Workers Party,
873 Broadway,

NY 10003.

Dear Comrade Barnes,

The Political Committee of the IMG decided yesterday
(25/9/70) to refer the question of your letter to me, dated
14th inst., to the next National Committee which will
meet over the weekend of October 17/18. We are to mime-
ograph copies of it so that members of the NC can study
it beforehand.

In the meantime you could perhaps furnish me with a
piece of information: Barry Sheppard told me yesterday
that the Pathfinder had made a big loan to Alan Harris
in the form of books (this was the first I had heard of
this); could you please tell me how much this was for?

Comrade Barry also referred to a debt we have in-
curred for international bulletins. Could you please ar-
range for us to receive an account? It would be useful
to separate the 1969 ones from the 1970 ones; and also
to list postage (in both cases separately).

Some time ago we wrote to Militant suggesting an ex-
change ad with Red Mole— apart from a brief word from
Joe we have had no response. Would it be possible to
look into this? We would also like to arrange exchange
ads between ISR and INTERNATIONAL. You could
perhaps arrange to let me know the procedure for ar-
ranging this. We are convinced that many readers of
ISR would be interested in reading our magazine.

Comrade Barry also made reference to the question of
votes of censure being covered in your constitution (if
I understood him correctly). Could you please arrange
for a copy of your constitution to be sent to me, at the
above address, please?

Revolutionary greetings,
Fraternally,

s/ Pat Jordan

(National Secretary IMG)

873 Broadway
2nd floor South
New York, N.Y. 10003

October 6, 1970

LONDON
Pat Jordan

Dear Pat,

letter of September 26.

This will acknowledge your
* * *

Pathfinder Press has continued to maintain the same
commercial relations with Alan Harris that were initiated



when he first opened a bookshop in London. During the
period Alan was in Canada, Ernest Tate handled the
bookshop, still on a private business, and then turned
it back over to Alan upon his return. Throughout these
years, Pathfinder found Alan Harris completely reliable
in business transactions. It welcomed his decision to open
an import-export wholesale service, since this coincided
with its own plans for expansion. Consequently it has
acknowledged his orders on the basis of the credit rating
he established over the years. Outside this framework
there have been no unusual financial transactions.
* * *

Judy White, our National Financial Director, is send-
ing you the information you desire concerning IMG's
debt for International Information Bulletins.

* * *

I spoke to Joe about his discussion with you on the
exchange of advertisements between The Red Mole and
The Militant. He said you had not yet responded to sug-
gestions he made to you on this. If you would drop him
or me a note indicating your agreement with his pro-
posals, we could proceed.

* * *

Write directly to the ISR on exchanging ads with Inter-

national 1 am sure they will be happy to cooperate.
* * *

Separately I am airmailing several copies of the SWP
constitution in which you can check the points you are
interested in. Also I am sending you the statutes of the
Fourth International in case you do not have them read-
ily available.

Comradely yours,
s/ Jack Barnes
Organization Secretary
cc: Ernest

December 10, 1970

Jack Barnes,

Socialist Workers Party,
873 Broadway,

New York,

NY 10003

Dear Comrade Jack,

In reply to your letter concerning Leader Books, I
have been instructed by the National Committee of IMG
to reply along the following lines:

(1) If we considered that it was necessary to raise the
question of the "degeneration" of the Socialist Workers
Party we would do so in another manner: through the
appropriate international committees.

(2) At its last meeting (October 17/18, 1970) the NC
of the IMG passed the following:

"(1) that this NC reaffirms the previous decisions of
the NC to have any bookshop and/or distribution ser-
vice under the political control of the IMG

"(2) that we would guarantee Adair a job in a unified

14

company” (i.e., in a merger between Red Books and Lead-
er Books)

"(3) that we would take over the financial responsibil-
ities of Leader Books to ensure that any money invested
by Adair in Leader Books should be refunded over a
viable period

"(4) that the NC set up a commission of 3 consisting
of George, Adair and Peterson to report to the next PC
in a form that will allow it to take a definite decision
on the form of the fusion. Comrade Adair and George
to make available the account books of Leader Books
and Red Books for inspection of the commission” (each
section passed — 17 votes for, 1 against).”

(3) In light of this decision we ask the comrades of the
SWP to collaborate with us in implementing the decisions.

Revolutionary greetings,
s/ Pat Jordan
(for IMG)

Statement to the National Committee of the International
Marxist Group presented to the Political Committee on
November 28 by Alan Harris

Dear Comrades,

This statement is to re-affirm the nature of Leader Books
and to motivate my position as outlined to the commission
set up by the NC to carry outthe amalgamation of Leader
Books and Red Books. The commission met on November
2, 1970.

In a report to the NC on 27/3/70, 1 offered to work
full time for the IMG in order to promote our literature.
Following the rejection of this offer I initiated Leader
Books which involves me in a number of legal and fi-
nancial responsibilities.

Leader Books is a import-export wholesale book service
dealing almost exclusively with Pathfinder Press publica-
tions. In my opinion it is a big asset to the IMG and the
FI to have such an operation located in Britain. It means
that Red Books and other bookshops can obtain Path-
finder publications quickly and efficiently. As you know,
these publications can also be obtained direct from New
York by anyone not wishing to take advantage of the
services that Leader Books provides.

I reject completely the concept that the circulation of
Pathfinder literature is in anyway harmful to the IMG and
the FI. If you think otherwise then you should take the
matter before the appropriate body of the F1.

I earn my living through Leader Books. I consider
this to be a legitimate, valuable and honourable way of
securing a livelihood. In no way does my means of live-
lihood violate proletarian democracy, socialist morality
or harm the work of the FI and its sections. The NC
of the IMG by instructing me to carry out a merger with
Red Books (Oct 17/18 meeting) exceeds its authority and
responsibilities. I reject the concept of merger as instructed
by the NC as it means the liquidation of Leader Books
and denies me the right to earn a living in the way I
have decided. I therefore reject the political and moral



authority of the NC in instructing me to carry out an
amalgamation of Leader Books with Red Books.

The motion of censure passed against me by the NC
(July 25/26) is a violation of democratic centralism and
is contrary to the constitution of the FI1. I was not invited
to attend the relevant part of the NC meeting in order
to explain why such a motion should not be passed. I
was not even informed that such a motion was to be
considered by the NC. No charges have been levelled
against me. The manner in which I was informed of the
decision and the way in which the leadership presented
the motion to the entire membership of the IMG makes
the matter even more shocking.

I formally learned that the NC had passed such a motion
on August 12th when the Letter to Members was distrib-
uted to the London branch meeting. Leader Books and
the motion of censure was placed on the agenda of the
London branch on two occasions by leading members
of the IMG for a "discussion" (see my statement of protest
August 26/70).

The motion of censure passed in my absence, without
me receiving written charges, without my knowledge and
distributed to the entire membership of the IMG, has created
a situation where I have been pilloried before the whole
membership thus making it almost impossible for me
to get a truly democratic hearing throughout the organiza-
tion.

I made a formal appeal to the last meeting of the NC
(24/25 Oct) requesting that the motion of censure be with-
drawn. This was rejected.

I therefore give notice that at the next national conference
of the IMG I will appeal the motion of censure and request
the conference to call to order the NC for usurping its
authority through interfering with my democratic right
to earn a living by distributing Pathfinder publications.

with comradely greetings,

Alan Harris

MEMORANDUM ON CORRESPONDENCE
RELATING TO LONDON BOOK SERVICE

By Joseph Hansen
January 20, 1971

An undated letter from Comrade Pat Jordan, the National
Secretary of the International Marxist Group, which was
received by Comrade Jack Barnes, the Organization Secre-
tary of the Socialist Workers Party, on September 7, 1970,
stated that the National Committee of the IMG had passed
the following motion at a meeting held over the weekend
of July 25-26, 1970:

The National Committee censures Comrade Alan Harris
for his unilateral action re Leader Books and requests
the United Secretariat to investigate the matter immedi-
ately because it will otherwise result in a serious dete-
rioration of relations between two sections of the Inter-
national. The NC empowers the Secretariat (IMG Secre-
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tariat) to carry out an amalgamation of Leader Books
and Red Books under the control of the IMG.

Several issues in my opinion, are involved inthis motion:

L. A disciplinary action, ie., censure of Comrade Harris.

This action was taken against Comrade Harris because
he opened a book service in London in order to gain
his livelihood after he turned the assets of Pioneer Books
over to the IMG in view of the stated inability of the IMG
to provide him with a living wage as a full timer and its
unwillingness to permit him to continue the operation
of Pioneer Books in the headquarters on the same private
basis upon which he had founded and operated it for a
number of years.

According to Comrade Harris, he was not informed
that such a motion was to be considered; he was not
invited to explain why such a motionshouldnot be passed;
no charges were levelled against him; and both he and
the rest of the membership were informed of the disciplinary
action in an irregular way.

2. An appeal to the United Secretariat "to investigate
the matter.”

No violation of the statutes of the Fourth International
concerning operating a bookshop or gaining a livelihood
is alleged. Thus it would appear that no grounds for an
investigation by the United Secretariat exist, and the
United Secretariat has not instituted any investigation.

3. An assertion that a "serious deterioration of relations"
with another section could occur.

This issue is referred to more directly in a subsequent
explanation by Comrade Jordan and will be considered
more fully further on.

4. An order issued to Comrade Harris to submit to "amal-
gamation” of his book service with Red Books "under the
control of the IMG."

This, if carried out, would amount to liquidating the
book service opened by Comrade Harris and denying
him the right to make a living in London in accordance
with his skills and experience.

In justification of the extraordinary resolution passed
by the majority of the National Committee of the IMG
at its July 25-26, 1970, meeting, ComradePatJordan stated:

We must explain that this resolution was passed after
the committee had received a report of the informal
discussions on Leader Books between Joe Hansen and
comrades Ali and Jordan.

This refers to conversations which I reported on at the
time to the Political Committee. As I told the committee,
the conversations appeared amicable to me and I could
see no reason why, given goodwill on both sides, a com-
radely resolution of the differences on this point could not
be reached. Evidently, I was mistaken.

To recall briefly the main points I made in the conversa-
tions with Comrades Ali and Jordan in connection with
this particular dispute:

It was my view that Comrade Harris acted within his
rights as a loyal member of the IMG in seeking to make
his livelihood through selling books and that in providing



a wholesale outlet for Pathfinder Press in Britain and
for the export of books of all kinds from Britain to other
countries, the operation, even though private, could prove
to be of positive value to the world Trotskyist movement.
I stated my opinion that the IMG stood to make direct
gains by this expansion.

I maintained that it was incorrect to conceive of Leader
Books as being in "competition” with Red Books. I said
I could envision the possibility of other retail outlets
besides Red Books being opened, particularly in the book
area of London, and that it would be very good, in my
opinion, if the IMG leadership would discuss these possi-
bilities with Comrade Harris, explore concretely what
might be attempted, and seek to utilize his know-how
in expanding in the retail field.

In response to queries from Comrades Ali and Jordan
about the Socialist Workers Party getting Pathfinder Press
to cut off relations with Comrade Harris, who has handled
Pathfinder, Merit, and Pioneer books satisfactorily for
many years, I explained that Pathfinder Press has no con-
nection with the SWP so far as its business affairs are
concerned, being a completely independent corporation
although it concentrates on publishing material expressing
a socialist point of view and receives strong moral backing
in this from the SWP.

My efforts to improve the situation obviously did not
meet with the positive response that seemed to me best
calculated to reduce tensions and lead to restoration of
comradely relations. In his letter, Comrade Jordan wrote
with regard to the conversations:

We cannot accept that there is any problem in "explain-

ing to Pathfinder Books" that Red Books wouldbe taking
over distribution of its publications from Alan Harris.
This being the case we are confronted with a position
where the SWP refuses to supply publications to the
official bookshop of the British Section, but instead
insists on supplying them direct to a member of the
minority tendency of the IMG.

The facts are that the SWP has never refused to supply
its publications to the British Section. Its publications
consist of internal bulletins, educational material, and
similar items.

In response to an inquiry, the management of Pathfinder
Press affirms that it has never refused any orders from
either the IMG, Red Books, or anyone else in Britain
or anywhere else in the world. It has only insisted upon
payment for orders.

To be noted in Comrade Jordan's explanation is the
category of an "official bookshop of the British Section,”
plus the implication that this "official” bookshop exercises
a monopoly on the sale of Trotskyist literature in Britain,
one so tight that to supply Trotskyist books "direct to a
member of the minority tendency of the IMG" will "result
in a serious deterioration of relations between two sec-
tions of the International.”

In arguing for this standpoint, Comrade Jordan con-
tinued:

We would ask you to consider a hypothetical case:
Suppose that the IMG, as publishers of a large number
of books by Trotsky, etc., refused to supply them to
the SWP but insisted that these be distributed in the
United States via a minority tendency (which for
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instance, might take the position that the YSA should
advance the slogan "Victory to the NLF"onmass demon-
strations).

As noted above: 1) The SWP and Pathfinder Press are
not identical, although the SWP favors and supports the
aim of Pathfinder Press to publish a large number of
books by Trotsky, etc. 2) Pathfinder Press has not re-
fused to supply the IMG with books by Trotsky or any
other author listed in its catalog. 3) If the IMG were
in position to supply the American market with books
by Trotsky or any other author of interest to the reading
public in the United States, and wished to do this through
an agency of its own choice, the SWP would certainly not
stand in the way. To the contrary, the SWP would seek
to facilitate such an operation.

As an example, there is the case of Comrade Ernest
Mandel's book Marxist Economic Theory, whichtheauthor
decided could be most advantageously printed in London
and distributed in the United States by the Monthly Review
Press. The SWP did everything it could to assure the suc-
cess of this arrangement, including distributing literature
describing the book and inviting comrades to purchase
it.

The argument about hypothetical American cothinkers
of the IMG majority taking the position "that the YSA
should advance the slogan 'Victory to the NLF' on mass
demonstrations" suggests several variants.

If they wanted to argue for this position within the
SWP, their democratic right to do so would be guaranteed.

If one of them wanted to open a private bookshop
to make a livelihood, the SWP leadership would help
him or her to the fullest extent, doing everything possible
to make it a success.

As to the possible connection of the slogan "Victory
to the NLF!" and such a bookshop, Comrade Jordan
drags this in by the hair. It is not the purpose of a book-

store to advance political slogans. The purpose of a book-
store is to sell books. It is to be noted that in the antiwar
rallies in the U. S. the most extreme slogan used by com-
rades associated with an SWP headquarters bookstore
has been: "Get Your Trotskyist Literature Here!"

The inappropriateness of Comrade Jordan's analogy
is shown by the fact that Leader Books has never dis-
played a banner in its windows reading "For Mass Anti-
war Demonstrations!” Moreover, despite the political dif-
ferences that the minority in the IMG has expressed, in
all public activities it has scrupulously adhered, so far
as I know, to all the positions taken by the majority;
and from all I have heard, the comrades of the minority
are not among the least active militants of the IMG.

Comrade Jordan, one is forced to conclude, is mixed
up on the function of a bookstore and the function of
a political party. '

The accuracy of such a conclusion is shown by the
following contention made by Comrade Jordan:

We do not accept the argument that a book distribution
centre (we do not want to get into semantic arguments
about bookshops and import/export agencies) is not
a political centre. Selling books, having an address
list and a manned office amounts to having a political
centre. This has always been recognised as such by the
movement. This is why the IMG national committee



resolved — just prior to its National Conference— that
its bookshop would be completely under democratic
centralist norms (it should be added that this position
was approved by the conference).

To be noticed first of all, is Comrade Jordan's position
that nothing more substantial than "semantics” is involved
in the difference between a wholesale and retail outlet.
It can only be concluded from this that the majority leader-
ship of the IMG has rejected Comrade Harris's offer to
provide a wholesale service for Red Books. This is the
reality of the situation described earlier by ComradeJordan
as being one "where the SWP refuses to supply publica-
tions to the official bookshop of the British Section. . . ."

As to the argument that "sellingbooks, having an address
list and a manned office amounts to having a political
centre,” the following observations can be made:

The experience of the radical movement is that a book-
shop, as an adjunct, can make the headquarters of a party
local more attractive; but a bookshop is by no means an
absolute requisite to maintaining a headquarters. In fact,
experience is not lacking in which bookshops have become
liabilities.

On the other hand, it is true that a bookshop can be
utilized as an initial pointin establishing a political center.
Experience shows, however, that such a development can
lessen the attractiveness of a bookshop and even stand
in the way of its becoming a successful financial enter-
prise. To survive, an "official' bookshop may in fact
require a regular subsidy in one form or another.

Whether a weak local should try to underwrite an "of-
ficial” bookshop must be carefully weighed. In this respect,
a private bookshop has often proved tobethe best arrange-
ment. The experience in London itself since 1963 would
seem to bear this out— at least up to now.

Comrade Jordan argues that the identity of a bookshop
and a political center "has always been recognized as
such by the movement." The truth is that his contention
echoes the position taken by the Grant group when they
sought to take over and destroy the bookshop established
and built up by Comrade Harris following the Reunifica-
tion Congress.

When the Grant group attempted their raid, accompany-
ing it with all kinds of slanders of Comrade Harris, the
United Secretariat came to the defense of Comrade Harris
and argued against the way the leadership of the Grant
group was abusing its authority as a majority.

Comrade Jordan asserted in his letter that no delays
in resolving the situation in the way decided upon by
the majority could be brooked. "We cannot procrastinate,”
he stated, "because of the serious state of affairs (our
political opponents are well aware that Leader Books op-
erates independently from our organization)."

It is not within the tradition of our movement to cite
the opinion of our political opponents in settling a mat-
ter of internal concern. For those who know this, an-
other argument was offered by Comrade Jordan in his
next paragraph, iLe., the lack of understanding in the
past in the British Trotskyist movement "of the mean-
ing of democratic centralism as applied to the task of
building a mass section of an international revolutionary
party.” To emphasize his point, Comrade Jordan stated:
"We would be failing in our duty of helping to construct
a mass section of the FI in Britain if we did not take
immediate and decisive steps to nip this situation in the
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bud.”

A sister section of the world Trotskyist movement, under-
standing what is involved, would be failing in its duty
if it did not call the attention of the leaders of the IMG
majority to the difference between democratic centralism
and abuse of authority.

Of greater concern is the following contention advanced
by Comrade Jordan:

We think that in a case like this [the imaginary
situation of the IMG distributing books in the U.S.
via a minority tendency that advocated the slogan
"Victory to the NLF"] that you could be understood
if you thought that the IMG was trying to support
a minority — politically and with resources— of the
SWP. We think that you could be understood if you
considered this to be a gross violation of the demo-
cratic centralist norms and an attempt to get round
the democratic procedures and processes of the SWP.

In view of the implications, Comrade Jack Barnes in
a letter dated September 14, 1970, asked Comrade Jor-
dan for clarification:

1. You maintain that the private wholesale export-
import book agency set up by Alan Harris consti-
tutes a "political centre,” that this center was opened up
by a minority tendency in your group, and that this
was in "gross violation" of the norms of democratic
centralism. You imply, moreover, that the Socialist
Workers Party played a key role in inspiring the
formation of this minority tendency in the IMG "po-
litically and with resources,” and that the establish-
ment of Leader Books by Alan Harris is in reality
an attempt by the SWP "to get round the democratic
procedures and processes” of the IMG.

In face of such allegations, am I correct in draw-
ing the conclusion that in your opinion the Social-
ist Workers Party has departed from the traditions
of Trotskyism; that it has, so to speak, "degenerated”
and can no longer be regarded as a fraternal or-
ganization so far as the majority leadership of the
IMG is concerned?

In a letter dated December 10, 1970, Comrade Jordan
stated that he had been instructed to reply to this ques-
tion along the following line:

1) If we considered that it was necessary to raise
the question of the "degeneration" of the Socialist Work-
ers Party we would do so in another manner: through
the appropriate international committees.

This reply can only be characterized as an equivoca-
tion. Asked if he believes that the SWP has departed from
the traditions of Trotskyism, Comrade Jordan says noth-
ing. Asked if he believes that the SWP can no longer
be regarded as a fraternal organization, Comrade Jor-
dan again says nothing. He is even equivocal on the
term "degeneration." His reply can be interpreted as mean-
ing that the IMG majority leaders do not consider it nec-
essary to raise this question at the present time; if they
did consider it necessary at the present time, then they
would do so in another manner. . . .

Comrade Barnes, in his letter of September 14, 1970,
asked another question in his effort to obtain clarifica-



tion from Comrade Jordan:

2. You state the Red Books has been named as
"the official bookshop of the British Section," that "the
creation of Leader Books is in complete violation
of the decision of the National Committee of the IMG,"
that "selling books, having an address list and manned
office amounts to having a political centre,” and that
your National Committee has empowered the IMG
Secretariat "to carry out an amalgamation of Lead-
er Books and Red Books under the control of the
IMG,"” with which you ask us to "fully co-operate."
Does this mean that you have placed a ban on any
of your members, except those that meet with the
political approval of your National Committee, from
making their livelihood by selling books and other
literature, particularly the books and literature gen-
erally regarded as "Trotskyist?"

In his reply of December 10, 1970, Comrade Jordan
did not reply at all to this question.

From his silence, it can be concluded that had he an-
swered, he could have answered only in the affirmative,
and he found it embarrassing to state the bald truth that
the majority leadership of the IMG has indeed placed a
ban on any of its members, except those meeting the
political approval of the majority, from making their
livelihood by selling books and other literature, particu-
larly the books and literature generally regarded as
"Trotskyist."

In fact in his reply of December 10, 1970, Comrade
Jordan quotes a resolution passed by the majority of
the National Committee at its October 17-18 meeting re-
affirming its previous position insisting upon the liquida-
tion of the book service set up by Comrade Harris.

The way in which Comrade Jordan and those who
agree with him regard the minority in the IMG has an
important bearing in this whole matter.

In his undated letter, Comrade Jordan said the follow-

ing:

We should point out that this tendency is widely
considered to be in solidarity with the SWP's criti-
cisms of the majority position in the International
We would recall to your attention that this tendency
first manifested itself when its leader, Comrade Susan
Williams, appealed to the British delegation at the
last world congress to be seated for the discussion
on China in order to cast her vote against the major-
ity. Furthermore it is well known that: a) about half
the members of the tendency are ex-members of a
section which supports the minority position in the
International; b) that leading comrades sent from
North America to participate in the work of the Inter-
national played the leading part in founding the ten-
dency; and c) that Alan Harris is a member of the
United Secretariat designated by the previously men-
tioned section. Taking into account all these circum-
stances we think it would be in the best interests of
a clear political discussion to avoid any action which
could be construed as using organisational means
to support a political minority.

The context is different from this presentation. At the
Reunification Congress in 1963, the development of the
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British Trotskyist movement was considered to be of spe-
cial importance. At the same time, the difficulties and ob-
stacles were recognized as considerable in face of the
sectarian course of the Socialist Labour League, the re-
fusal of its leaders to participate in the reunification of the
world Trotskyist movement, and the divisions among
those who favored reunification — the Fourth Internation-
alists being divided into two warring groups, one cen-
tered in Nottingham, the other in London. '

Outside aid was badly needed. The United Secretariat
therefore did what it could to provide this aid. An ap-
peal was made to the English-speaking comrades in North
America. The Canadian Trotskyists responded as true
internationalists and sent various top-level cadres at some
cost to their own work in an immediate sense. In col-
laboration with the United Secretariat, they worked in
model fashion, not without personal sacrifice.

To round out the picture, it should be noted that most
of these cadres— as happens to be the case with a sub-
stantial number of Canadians generally — were not born
in Canada. They were born in Britain. They were "Ca-
nadians” only in the sense that some of them had been
won to the movement in Canada, or had had the op-
portunity — as in the case of Susan Williams— of work-
ing for a time in the Canadian Trotskyist movement.

Comrade Jordan leaves this out. Instead, even in a
letter to the SWP he stresses that "about half the mem-
bers of the tendency are ex-members of a section which
supports the minority position in the International.” )

A sharp factional line is thus projected by Comrade
Jordan, extending beyond Britain and tying in with the
differences expressed at the last world congress. This goes
counter to the efforts of the most responsible leaders of
the world Trotskyist movement to avoid the crystalliza-
tion of factional formations on an international scale.

Comrade Jordan's stress on the alleged "Canadian” ori-
gin and ties of "about half the members of the tendency”
is cause for concern. It suggests that a bad factional at-
mosphere has been whipped up within the IMG. It is
only too remindful of the factionalism that has repeated-
ly been such a problem to British Trotskyism in the past.

The assignment of aiding the British comrades in
strengthening Trotskyism in their country was not ended
on the initiative of the Trotskyists in either Canada or
the U.S. It was ended unilaterally primarily on the ini-
tiative of the majority of the IMG leadership after the
IMG was recognized as an official section of the Fourth
International.

This was connected with a change in thé orientation
of the IMG that was challenged by some comrades in
the IMG and that led to a political discussion of con-
siderable interest as can be judged by reading the con-
tributions made by both sides.

Contrary to the conclusion implied in Comrade Jor-
dan's letter, the current differences within the IMG orig-
inated from a change in orientation undertaken by the
majority leadership. The appearance of a minority ten-
dency was not at all the result of unprincipled interven-
tion by a "degenerated” section, seeking "to get round the
democratic procedures and processes” of the IMG.

To summarize: Comrade Jordan, speaking for the IMG
majority, does not give a true picture of the role played
by those sectors of the world Trotskyist movement that
responded to the appeal of the United Secretariat to help
the British comrades. He presents a tendentious account



of the origin of the minority, implying that it was in-
stigated by the leadership of the SWP for unfathomable
reasons, that it consists to a large degree of persons com-
ing under the general heading of "foreign agents,” and
that it therefore has no basis in principle for existence.

In resorting to organizational reprisals against a loyal
minority, the leaders of the majority in the IMG have
embarked on a course that could have serious repercus-
sions within the Fourth International as a whole. It is
to be hoped that they will reconsider this course and
recognize that members of the minority have the same
right as members of the majority to seek to make a live-
lihood doing what they are most skilled at—in this in-
stance selling books.

If the majority leaders weigh more carefully the fact
that the enterprise undertaken by Comrade Harris aims
at concentrating on books of greatest political impor-
tance to the world Trotskyist movement and to the IMG,
perhaps they will decide that the best policy is to give
it the support it deserves.

14 Charles Lane
New York, N.Y. 10014
April 30, 1971

Pat Jordan
Dear Pat,

We have received no reply to or acknowledgment of
our communication to you of February 8, 1971. It con-
tained the motion adopted by the Political Committee of
the Socialist Workers Party on February 5, 1971; copies
of your correspondence including an undated letter to
the Political Bureau of the Socialist Workers Party, your
letters of September 26, 1970 and October 12, 1970%;
my correspondence to you of September 14, 1970 and
October 6, 1970; the statement to the National Commit-
tee of the International Marxist Group which has [beenj
presented to the Political Committee on November 28,
1970, by Alan Harris; and the Memorandum on Cor-
respondence Relating to London Book Service by Joseph
Hansen, dated January 20, 1971.

We know that letters going both ways may have been
lost during the strike.

Did you receive this communication?

Comradely,
s/ Jack Barnes
Organization Secretary
cc: Ernest

* This letter is correctly listed in the report of the Fact-
Finding Commission as dated December 10, 1970.
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IMG.,

182 Pentonville Rd.,
London N. 1.
Britain.

6/5/71

Jack Barnes,
SWP.

14 Charles Lane,
New York City,
N.Y. 10014

Dear Jack,

Your letter of the 30th ult., received yesterday, acknowl-
edged.

We did, indeed, receive your communication of February
8th. We sent you on March 10th an acknowledgement and
the text of a resolution passed by the IMG National Com-
mittee on March 7th. The resolution reads:

(1) That our reply should be more in sorrow than
anger, regretting very much that relations between
the SWP and the IMG have declined;

(2) That we suggest some measures to improve mat-
ters, e.g., more exchange of materials and informal
discussions. A start could be made by exchanging
minutes and for the two organisations to send each
other all documents, circulars, etc.;

(3) We have to insist that a correction on ques-
tions of fact is sent to all those people who received
Joe Hansen's memoranda;

(4) We have to protest against the way that the
IMG was tried and found guilty of undemocratic pro-
cedures (and a general question of democracy in the
IMG was raised) without any chance to defend it-
self (nor for that matter even knowing that such
charges were going to be raised).

Passed 14 for, 2 against, 1 abstention (on the
grounds that the letter was not strong enough).

Another minute is of interest:

Asked whether she would deny the fact that IMG
paid £192 for the books received from Pioneer Books,
Williams answered negatively.

I have not drafted the above mentioned reply because
of pressure of work due to the IMG annual conference.

Please let us have your reaction to the suggestion of
the exchange of more material. At present we receive SWP
branch circulars and a host of material from the YSA.
We do not receive SWP national committee minutes nor
those of yqur political bureau and similar committees.
Please instruct us on matters of security, etc.; we remem-
ber full well Joe's violent reaction on the occasion of
some material being sent to the wrong address.

Please arrange to have sent to us by airmail one each
of your Discussion Bulletins, we already receive the In-
formation Bulletins. Please inform comrade Judy White
that we have paid £40 to Martine for International In-
formation Bulletins, this negates the invoice she sent us.
We are selling the Bulletins and our practice will be to
pay this money to Martine, about every other month.
This is in keeping with a decision of our Political Com-



mittee. We realise full well that payment for SWP Dis-
cussion Bulletins should be made to the SWP— we hope
that this will clear up any confusion on this matter.

We have received from the Spartacists a request to ad-
vertise the issue of their paper giving a "report” on the
differences in the United Secretariat. In view of the lying
and dishonest nature of that report we are not proposing
to print the advert.

We have sent to you under separate cover a copy of
our pamphlet on Bengal—we hope you can find it use-
ful.

Since your move there has been some material sent
to us at our old address (1, Toynbee St., London, E. 1.).
It would appear that this mistake has been discovered
because the mail stopped being re-directed from that ad-
dress as mysteriously as it commenced —however, you
might care to mention it to who ever is in charge. Re-
directed mail is a convenient way for the cops to get
a set of our material.

Revolutionary greetings,
s/ Pat Jordan

14 Charles Lane
New York, N. Y. 10014
May 15, 1971

Dear Pat,

Thank you for your letter of May 6. I received it yester-
day. We never received your letter of March 10.

I will circulate your letter to the Political Committee
and we will await the reply to our communication of
February 8 that you are working on. I can appreciate
the pressure of work due to the IMG annual conference.
We have the same problem mounting here now ourselves.

We will try to increase the exchange of material that
you suggest. It would be a help if we had a more exact
idea what you already receive. We will begin immediately
sending you an airmail copy of our internal discussion
bulletins as they come off the press. It would be very
helpful if you would do the same. We do not have a
set of the preconference discussion material of the IMG
that is now coming out.

There are no special problems with security. If I re-
member correctly, Joe's "violent” reaction had to do with
material for the SWP being addressed as such to ICP's
box number. There's no problem with sending any of
the material you want directly to the SWP at 14 Charles
Lane.

We're surprised that any material was sent to your old
address at Toynbee St. The comrades from the national
office and the offices of our publications have not done
so. They have sent all the material to Pentonville Rd.
Would you please send us a list of all the material that
came to 1 Toynbee St. and the date that it was mailed,
if you can make out the postmark. That's the only way
we can actually track down the error.

The Political Committee is planning to send a represen-
tative to observe your conference. He will be able to clarify
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any remaining triangular problems of bulletin bills that
exist between ourselves, yourselves and Martine.

Comradely,
s/ Jack Barnes



IV. DOCUMENTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACT FINDING COMMISSION
BY MAJORITY AND TENDENCY COMRADES

A. Pathfinder Press/Alan Harris Dispute
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On the Factionalism of the IMG Majority National Com-
mittee Members Concerning Pathfinder Press

by Alan Harris
June 1, 1971

Disciplinary action was taken against me by the Nation-
al Committee of the IMG at its meeting on July 25/26,
1970, when the following resolution was passed:

The NC censures comrade Alan Harris for his uni-
lateral action re Leader Books and requests the United
Secretariat [of the Fourth International—A.H.] to
investigate the matter immediately because it will other-
wise result in a serious deterioration of relations between
two sections of the International. The NC empowers
the Secretariat (IMG Secretariat) to carry out an amal-
gamation of Leader Books and Red Books under the
control of the IMG.

I was not invited to attend the part of the NC meeting
when this motion was passed in order to present my
point of view. I was not informed that such a motion
was to be considered by the NC. No charges were levelled
against me. The NC did not inform me that such a serious
decision had been taken. In fact I formally learned about
the motion of censure when the nationally circulated Letter
to Members was distributed to the August 12th London
Branch meeting (see appendix number 1), and when a
NC report on Leader Books was placed on the branch
agenda. I protested as follows:

1 protest that tonight I have formally heard for the
first time that the NC at its meeting of July 25/26 passed
a motion of censure against me.

Normal democratic procedures have been violated by
not giving me an opportunity to be at the relevant part
of the NC meeting to speak against the motion of cen-
sure. The motion of censure was therefore passed with-
out giving me an opportunity to present my point of
view to the NC and to givemembers of the NC an oppor-
tunity to hear this viewpoint and come to a democratic
decision.

At the following branch meeting Leader Books was

again on the agenda and I again protested as follows: °

I protest on three accounts that leading comrades of
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the IMG have placed Leader Books on the agenda

of the London Branch for the second time.

1) Because the matter concerns another Trotskyist or-
ganisation which is not able to be represented here.

2) Because the dispute concerns a member of the IMG
and United Secretariat, against whom a motion
of censure has been passed by the IMG.

3) Because the matter has already been referred to
the United Secretariat by the NC (I have already
asked that the question of my censure be placed
on the agenda of the next United Secretariat meeting).

I therefore decline to take part in tonight's -discussion

and reserve the right to present my point of view at

the September meeting of the United Secretariat, not
only on the "dispute” between Leader Books and Red

Books but also on the question of my censure.

I made an appeal to the NC at its meeting on October
24/25 requesting that the motion of censure be rescinded.
This was rejected.

How can the IMG majority leadership claim to adhere
to the organisational norms of democratic centralism yet
proceed by passing a motion of censure against a com-
rade, in his absence, without written charges, without
his knowledge, and distributed to the entire membership
of the organisation in a way calculated to prejudice the
membership against him?

In 1963, at the time of the reunification congress of
the Fourth International (7th world congress) the United
Secretariat saw the development of a strong section in
Britain to be of key importance. Important not only for
Britain but for the Fourth International as a whole.

The SLL had moved into a factional, dead-end sectarian
course and refused to come into the reunified movement.
The forces favouring reunification in Britain, the Revolu-
tionary Socialist League and the Nottingham-based Inter-
national Group, were weak and hostile to each other.

To assist in the building of the British section the United
Secretariat, at the request of the British comrades, asked
the English speaking sections to help in anyway they
could. It was logical that help came from Canada because
of the political similarities thatexist betweenthetwo countries
and because the Canadian section continually recruits
British emigrants. ,

The Canadian Trotskyists responded by releasing me
in order to return to Britain to work under the direction
of the United Secretariat.

With Healy pulling out of the Fourth International, the
RSL became, defacto, the official section. Of course I
was duty bound to join it At the same time I retained
fraternal relations with the International Group. The RSL
under Ted Grant's leadership and the IG led by Coates
and Jordan had decided, in line with the 7th world congress



decisions, to unify their organisations. The responsibility
allocated to me by the United Secretariat was to help
bring about the fusion as quickly as possible.

In 1963 it was almost impossible to purchase our litera-
ture in the UK. The SLL published a small number of
books and pamphlets, most of which contained factional
attacks against the. Fourth International. A few duplicated
pamphlets were availablefrom Jordan's International Book-
shop in Nottingham. The RSL had about 2000 copies
of France in Crisis written by Grant, but nothing else.

It was difficult to see how a Trotskyist cadre could
develop without at least the basic literature of the Fourth
International being available and promoted.

On joining the RSL I learned about "WIR Publications,"”
which was supposed to be a publishing house and mail-
order book service combined. In reality it existed only
in the minds of some RSLers and by name.

By decision and agreement of the RSL and United
Secretariat I commenced to operate and expand "WIR
Publications,” on a full time basis, as a mail-order book
service.

It should be mentioned that the RSL, like "WIR Pub-
cations," hardly existed either. The headquarters were
always closed. There was no telephone. It was a hercu-
lean task to make contact with the official section of the
Fourth International in Britain. The RSL's "monthly"
newspaper Socialist Fight came out twice in 1963. Deep
entry into the Labour Party had turned the RSL into an
underground and dead organisation.

The impending fusion with the IG and theregular opening
of the headquarters stocked with only a small amount of
socialist literature brought about some changes for the
better. Some new recruits were made, the most prominent
being ex-SLL members Roger P., Connie Harris, and Bob
P.

In late 1964, after more than a year's discussion, the
fusion between the RSL and IG finally took place. It was
followed three months later by a split, taking the organisa-
tions back to square one.

While critical of many organisational and theoretical
concepts of the Nottingham comrades, my sympathies
were more with them than with the RSL. This created
a big dilemma for the Grant leadership. According to
them, a situation could not be tolerated where anyone
who did not think exactly like them could operate the
book service—so I was promptly fired.

I then initiated Pioneer Book Service from my flat as
a privately owned concern. The RSL didn'tlike that very
much. According to the Grant leadership's warped con-
cepts of democratic centralism, no member of the Fourth
International in Britain could operate a "Trotskyist" book-
shop unless it was under the control of the leading bodies
of the RSL. The leadership had to decide policy, legally
own, and control any book service operated by members
of the organisation. Not all members of course— but most
certainly those members who were in political opposition
to them.

The RSL leadership, because it was factional to the
core, tried to make a big scandal over Pioneer Book
Service. They sank so low as to accuse me of stealing
"their" books (while conveniently forgetting about the large
debt owed to me for unpaid wages). As a last resort
they appealed to the United Secretariat, claiming that
I had acted in an undisciplined manner and that I was
a conscious stooge of the North American comrades,
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working against the interests of the British section.

The United Secretariatclearly saw whatwasinvolved —an
attempt to discredit one of its members by a factional,
national leadership, through an abuse of its authority. The
appeal was turned down.

The big rumpus the RSL leadership tried to create when
Pioneer Book Service was set up was designed to blur
over the political differences within the organisation, and
to try to discredit and denigrate one of its members before
the membership of the section and the International. In
the process they turned democratic centralism into a farce.

So much for the organisational practices of the RSL!

With the authorisation and agreement of the United Secre-
tariat, Ernest Tate came to London in December 1965,
attending the 8th world congress where the IG and RSL
were both made "sympathising groups" of the FI After
a short period working with Comrade Tate, I went back
to Canada in March 1966 after completing my assignment.
Before I left, premises were obtained at Toynbee Street
and Pioneer Book Service (which was a privately owned
concern) was handed over to Comrade Tate.

Good opportunities developed for the building of the
Fourth International in Britain and in 1968 in response
to a request from the International both Connie Harris
and myself returned to Britain to assist in the building
of the section. After the October 1968, Vietham demonstra-
tion I recommenced the work of developing Pioneer Book
Service.

At the 9th world congress in April 1969, the IMG became
the official section of the Fourth International in Britain
and the RSL was dropped from being a "sympathising"”
group. Recognition of the IMG as thesectiondid not change
the relationship between the IMG and Pioneer Book Service.
{ continued to operate the book service and carried out
other responsibilities as requested by the IMG leadership.

A change in the relationship took place when the United
Secretariat, at the request of the IMG NC, terminated
the International aid project to Britain. This changed
the situation for me as my wages had been paid by the
International. It then became necessary to find an alterna-
tive means of earning a living.

In a statement to the PC (see appendix number 2) I
proposed that the IMG move out boldly by raising the
money to finance a bookshop, located in central London,
with considerable stock and staffed by two comrades full
time. Such an undertaking, would of course, be under
the control of the IMG. If this idea materialised, I was
willing to work in any capacity I could, providing the
organisation pay wages on a par with those received
when the International aid project existed. The IMG could
not raise the necessary amount of money so the idea of
a centrally located bookshop was dropped. A further
proposition I put forward was that I personally could
borrow sufficient money to open a bookshop for the IMG
but that such a bookshop would have to be my personal
responsibility on account of the loan involved. This was
turned down by the leadership who argued that it was
incompatible with democratic centralism to allow me to
operate a private bookshop which is what I had been
doing for many years.

Faced with the necessity to earn a living it was natural
that I put to use the skill I had developed over the years—
selling books. Leader Books (now Pathfinder Press, Lon-
don) was started on a private basis as an import-export
wholesale book distribution centre.




For the first time in Britain, sufficient stock of Trotskyist
literature was available making it possible to promote this
literature to bookshops, organisations, libraries, etc. Sales
of our literature have increased enormously over the past
year and this is obviously a big asset to the IMG and
Fourth International. Red Books like many other book-
shops are able to take advantage of the large quantities
of Pathfinder titles in London.

The IMG majority leadership raise red herrings when
they try to make a case thatPathfinder Press is in "competi-
tion" with Red Books. Even if Pathfinder Press became
100% retail, even if every other bookshop in the country
started selling our literature, this could only compliment,
and not impede the work of Red Books. It would mean that
sales by Red Books would increase, to the advantage
of the IMG and Fourth International.

Red Books is not subservient to Pathfinder Press (Lon-
don). As far as I know, any bookshop, anywhere in the
world, can place orders direct with New York.

The accusation that Pathfinder Press is a political centre
initiated by the tendency and supported by Trotskyists in
other countries is even more absurd. Since when do poli-
tical bookshops, ipso facto, become political headquarters?
Anyone visiting Collet's can see that they carry a broad
range of Pathfinder titles. Does the majority leadership
consider Collet's—a Communist Party front—to be a
Trotskyist political headquarters? Or for that matter any
other "political” bookshop that handles our literature?

The majority leadership by linking the dispute they
have with me over Pathfinder Press with the Tendency
is hoping to confuse the political issues on which the
Tendency is formed. While Tendency members see the
obvious advantage in increasing the circulation of our
literature, they neither initiated nor are responsible for
Pathfinder Press. Pathfinder Press is my personal respon-
sibility.

The motion of censure which the NC passed against
me requests the United Secretariat to "investigate the matter
immediately." The matter was referred to the United Secre-
tariat. This body did not institute any investigation pre-
sumably on the grounds that the statutes of the Fourth
International are not violated when a private bookshop
is opened by an individual member. Themotion of censure
also "empowers the (IMG) Secretariat to carry out an
amalgamation of Leader Books with Red Books under
the control of the IMG." Such an "amalgamation” if carried
out would mean the liquidation of Pathfinder Press and
a denial of my right to earn a living utilising the skill
T have.

The NC therefore abused its authority by instructing me
to carry out an amalgamation with Red Books, and for
this reason I am unable to comply.

Of course leading bodies of our movement have the
right and responsibility to discuss with its members their
job situation. With good reason a leading body can re-
quest that a comrade changes jobs if possible. It can in
certain circumstances request a comrade to try and get
another job which is considered to be more helpful in the
work of the party. But a leading body cannot order or
give instructions to a comrade on how he or she makes
a living. Not unless someone is in a situation where prole-
tarian democracy is being violated or where the work
of the section and Fourth International is being damaged.
If the majority leadership consider Pathfinder Press falls
into either of these categories, it should state so and why.
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Clearly the NC in its attitude and actions towards the
setting up of Pathfinder Press has acted in an extremely
factional manner. Instead of welcoming and assisting
such a venture—which can do nothing but he]p the work
of the IMG and the Fourth International —the reverse
has happened.

It is because I hold political views at variance with the
majority that the NC has embarked on this course. The
motion of censure is an organisation reprisal against
me for holding certain political views. The source of the
political dispute is not of my making. That rests with
the majority leadership which decided to change some
political positions which had been held by the IMG and
the Fourth International for some years, thereby making
the development of a tendency inevitable.

By taking organisational reprisals of this kind, the
majority leadership hope to blur over and solve the poli-
tical questions in dispute. They, therefore, drag in all
kinds of red herrings, in order to try and present a case
that democratic centralism has been violated, that I am
somehow disloyal, that I am in collaboration with Trot-
skyists outside of Britain who, for reasons unknown, are
fishing in troubled waters against the interests ofthe British
section.

The IMG majority leadership are merely emulating what
the RSL leadership did in 1965.

I consider Pathfinder Press (London) to be a big asset
to the IMG and the Fourth International. In no way have
our democratic centralist norms been violated by the setting
up of Pathfinder Press on a private basis.

The majority NC/PC have abused their authority and
therefore violated our democratic norms. They have done
this by:

1) censuring me;

2) failing to notify me in advance that I was to be placed
on trial;

3) failing to grant me a hearing at the relevant part of
the NC meeting;

4) notifying the membership of IMG of its disciplinary
measures in a way calculated to prejudice the member-
ship against me;

5) singling me out for disciplinary action for the way in
which I earn a living when the entire membership is
not subjected to the same discipline;

6) taking organisational reprisals against me in such a
way as to try and politically discredit myself and
thereby the Tendency as a whole;

7) instructing me to "amalgamate" Pathfinder Press with
Red Books, knowing that by "amalgamation" what
was really meant was liquidation.

I reject the motion of censure and the instructions about
"amalgamation” for the reasons already outlined, and I
request the national conference to do likewise.

APPENDIX NO. 1
EXTRACT FROM LETTER TO MEMBERS,
4th August 1970

LEADER BOOKS: Comrades may be aware of a some-
what unfortunate occurrence concerning the setting up of
Leader Books by Comrade Alan Harris. The National
Committee felt that the setting up of this book agency
was detrimental to the interests of Red Books— the group



bookshop. In view of the fact that Leader Books was
set up without the knowledge of the leadership and involves
the SWP and the United Secretariat the NC passed the
following resolution: "That this NC censures Comrade
A. H. for his unilateral action re Leader Books and re-
quests the United Secretariat of the Fourth International
to investigate the matter immediately, because it will other-
wise result in a serious deterioration in relations between
two sections of the International. The NC empowers the
Secretariat to carry out an amalgamation of Leader Books
under the control of the IMG." The Secretariat will be
getting in touch with comrade A. Harris soon to carry
out the NC decision. A letter has already been sent out
to the SWP.

APPENDIX NO. 2
STATEMENT BY A HARRIS TO THE PCOF THE IMG,
19 March 1970

Future of PBS

1. Continue operation as at present, mainly as a service
to group members and immediate periphery. Bulk of
trade is through the mail and is time-consuming. Expan-
sion is impossible from 8 Toynbee.

2. Expand to cater for wider layers of people generally
interested in radical literature. This requires a move
to a more central position and involves some considerable
outlay for stock, premises, fittings and staff. At least
two persons needed on a fulltime basis.

The progress made since we first started the PBS opera-
tion from our bedroom in S. W. London in 1965 reveals
that it is possible with the objective situation today to
operate an efficient book service and store and make it
a viable proposition—given the necessary labour and
capital for such a project This seems to be the better
alternative. Since the last PC, some informal discussions
have taken place regarding possible sources of finance.
So far only source to materialise is a loan which A & C
can obtain from parents.

The change in International aid requires immediate
action on question of PBS. In view of the decision to
remove the offices to Pentonville Road, I propose that
notice be given to vacate the offices at 8 Toynbee at the
end of April and for PBS to move out as soon as it is
practicable.

Cc173

Extract from Minutes of the IMG NC July 25-26th, 1970

Red Books and Leader Books
Jenkins motion carried that this NC censures Comrade
A. Harris for his unilateral action re Leader Books and
requests the US to investigate the matter immediately,
because it will otherwise result in a serious deterioration
of relations between two sections of the International.
The NC empowers the Secretariat to carry out an amal-
gamation of Leader Books under the control of the IMG.
(14 for, 3 against.)
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M-21
RESOLUTION ON LEADER BOOKS

(1) Conference rejects the so-called appeal from Com-
rade Harris. No disciplinary action has been taken against
him, so there is nothing to appeal against.

(2) Conference affirms that the NC and the PC pro-
ceeded along Bolshevik principles in taking the position
that all publishing activity and distribution should be
under the control of the organisation.

(3) Conference recognises that Alan Harris, in refusing
to carry out the decision of the NC to fuse Leader Books
with Red Books, behaved in an indisciplined manner.
Furthermore, that the leadership of the IMG bent over
backward in making reassurances to Comrade Harris
that his livelihood and investment would be guaranteed.

(4) Conference is aware that disciplinary action against
Comrade Harris could, despite his violation of organi-
sational norms be used as a diversion from the political
discussions now taking place within the Fourth Interna-
tional.

(5) Conference confirms that all political contacts gained
from Leader Books/Pathfinder Press must be passed on
to the national office and in addition, that Comrade Har-
ris must discuss regularly the operation of the enterprise
with persons designated by the leadership. He must also
give details of outlets to IMG publications to assist its
wholesale operations.

(6) Conference rejects as irresponsible any attempt to
use the censure motion against comrade Harris to dam-
age political relations within the Fourth International
and with its co-thinkers.

(7) Conference strongly disapproves of the attempt by
the SWP to interfere in the internal affairs of the British
section in relation to this question.

The above resolution was passed by the national con-
ference of the International Marxist Group held in June
1971.

M-24

SETTING THE RECORD STRAIGHTONPATHFINDER
BOOKS
by Peter Petersen

Comrades will have read a bulletin submitted by Alan
Harris on the question of Pathfinder Press.

The purpose of this short paper is to set the record
straight on this matter and to counter the distortions
and downright lies in that bulletin. It is unfortunate that
the time, money and energy of the IMG has to be spent
on this barren project. However, this is made necessary
by the fact that whilst this question may be clear to most
members of the IMG, comrades in other sections can be
completely misinformed on this matter. Thus we can read
in a memorandum written by Joe Hansen for the infor-
mation of members of the National Committee of the SWP
the following:




1. A disciplinary action, ie., censure of Comrade
Harris.

This action was taken against Comrade Harris be-
cause he opened a book service in London in order
to gain his livelihood after he turned the assets of
Pioneer Books over to the IMG in view of the stated
inability of the IMG to provide him with a living
wage as a full-timer and its unwillingness to permit
him to continue the operation of Pioneer Books in
the headquarters on the same private basis upon which
he had founded and operated it for a number of years.

It is hard to imagine a statement which could contain
more errors of fact in so few words:

(a) Comrade Harris did not hand over the assets of
Pioneer Books— what occurred was that IMG purchased
part of the stock of Pioneer Books onbehalf of Red Books.

(b) So far as "the stated inability of the IMG to provide"
Comrade Harris "with a living wage" is concerned, Com-
rade Harris was asked to run a book service for IMG.
He said that he would require a wage of £30 per week.
This is twice what we pay our professionals. I might
add that had we agreed to pay this wage, we would have
been breaking the statutes of the Fourth International
which state: "No one on full time shall receive remunera-
tion above the equivalent of the wages of a skilled work-
er" [Section vii, (k)].

(c) So far as the "unwillingness” of the IMG "to permit
him to continue the operation of Pioneer Books in the
headquarters on the same basis upon which he had found-
ed and operated it for a number of years" is concerned,
the facts are that as shown by the statement which com-
prises Appendix 2 to his document. It was Comrade Har-
ris who took the initiative in saying that the old arrange-
ments had to be ended.

But the most important error in the statement by Com-
rade Hansen is about disciplinary action having been
taken by the IMG against Comrade Harris. The fact
of the matter is that no disciplinary action whatsoever
has been taken by IMG against Comrade Harris.

Comrade Hansen must have made his statements in
good faith—one can only speculate about his sources
of misinformation.

Comrade Harris, on the other hand, cannot be excused
for starting his bulletin with a direct lie: "Disciplinary
action was taken against me by the National Commit-
tee. . . ." The whole of Comrade Harris's bulletin is prem-
ised on this lie. All his conclusions, all his charges of
factionalism, ete., flow from that starting point.

What are the facts of the matter?

It is true that a censure motion was passed against
Comrade Harris. However, the IMG National Commit-
tee of October 17/18, 1970 passed the following:

(1) the NC is of the opinion that a vote of censure
does not constitute disciplinary action against a com-
rade in the sense of the constitution. Rather it amounts
to an expression of grave disapproval of a comrade's
action.

(2) the NC is of the opinion that in general motions
of censure are not good practice but instead it is best
to specify the actions which comrades disapprove of.
However, a motion of censure can sometimes be used
as a means of avoiding the necessity of disciplinary
action (16 for, 0 against, 1 abstention).
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This decision arose directly out of a discussion about
the pre-mentioned motion of censure. It was, furthermore,
circulated to the whole membership via Letter to Mem-
bers. Comrade Harris has no excuse whatsoever for stick-
ing to his position that he has been disciplined.

There is abundant evidence that Comrade Harris has
only recently discovered that a censure motion is an act
of discipline against a comrade. Comrade Williams, who
is known to share Comrade Harris's predilection for this
gimmick of accusing the IMG of taking disciplinary ac-
tion by this censure motion, has also made this discov-
ery rather recently. Witness the following minute from
the PC of 17/5/70: "Report of Stewart meeting in Oxford:
Williams's motion: 'we should condemn the action of our
comrades playing a role in disrupting the meeting' (2
for, 6 against)." This was only two months before the
censure motion on Comrade Harris. I would ask Com-
rade Williams:

(1) Did she notify the Oxford comrades in advance
that she intended to put them on trial?

(2) Did she grant a hearing to the non-PC members
of the Oxford branch before she proposed her condemna-
tion?

Fortunately the right-wing motion proposed by Comrade
Williams was not passed. However, if we further delve
into the files we come up with the following minute for
the National Committee of 25/1/69: "M/C that Varney
be censured for his activity in connection with the above
(Unan)." When we consult the attendance at this meeting,
we find that Comrades Harris and Williams were present,
but that Comrade Varney was not. I would ask again
of Comrades Harris and Williams:

(1) Why did they not protest that Comrade Varney
had not been notified in advance?

(2) Why did they not protest because Gomrade Varney
was not present at the relevant part of the NC?

(3) Why did they vote for "disciplinary action” in the
absence of the comrade concerned?

Apparently Comrades Williams and Harris have two
standards— one for Comrade Harris and one for the
rest of the movement. Their outraged cry about lack of
justice and against undemocratic methods only applies
when they are criticised. The real answer is that the dis-
covery about censure motions being acts of discipline
was made to further factional ends.

But what about the terrible crime of interfering with a
comrade's right to earn his living— Comrade Harris's
document exhibits a petit-bourgeois individualistic ap-
proach. It is axiomatic to being a member of a disciplined
revolutionary organisation— an organisation of profes-
sional revolutionaries—that one accepts the right of the
organisation to take decisions about where one should
work, live and be activee. How else can we build a Bol-
shevik organisation?

There is a simple answer to those, like Comrade Harris,
who say that we go too far when we reserve such powers:
the IMG, like all revolutionary organisations, is a volun-
tary organisation. Those who are not prepared to have
such interference in their "private lives" are clearly not
prepared to become professional revolutionaries. That
being the case, the honest thing for them to do is to leave.
The essence of Lenin's struggle against the Mensheviks
on organisational concepts was a fight against petit-bour-
geois individualism as exhibited by Comrade Harris.

After the ending of the agreement on International aid,



the IMG was informed by Comrade Harris that this meant
a change had to be made in the mode of operation of
Pioneer Book Services. At this point, I should point out
that the reason why we ended this agreement about Inter-
national aid was because we thought that the money
which was being used to pay for professionals for the
IMG should be used for other more pressing problems.
I would remind comrades that this action of ending the
International aid was agreed to by last year's annual
conference. I would also point out that one of the effects
of the method of International aid was that the IMG did
not [decide] itself who was to work full-time for it. The
dangers arising out of such an anomaly can be seen when
one remembers that one comrade came to Britain on this
arrangement and was, within a few months, one of the
main leaders of a newly formed tendency, which conducted
a political struggle against the majority of the organisa-
tion. This statement of comrade Harris came as a complete
surprise to the leadership of the IMG. Until that point
we did not know that Comrade Harris was receiving
money under the International aid scheme. To this day
we have never been told officially how much Comrade
Harris was receiving. Furthermore, we are, quite frankly,
puzzled by this business. We find it difficult to see why
it was necessary to subsidise Pioneer Book Service. We
have during the course of the past year established Red
Books to a point where it earns enough to pay the wages
of a full-time professional. Moreover, during this year
the stock of Red Books has increased to several hundred
pounds value. All this has taken place with no subsidy
whatsoever from the organisation. We are now in the
process of moving towards having an enlarged central
bookshop, with an increased staff. I would add that this
has been done in a situation where we have had strong
competition from IS Books and . . . Leader Books/Path-
finder Press. The latter seems to have the ability to ad-
vertise far more widely than any other left-wing book
concern. Our experience indicates that bookshops which
have to be subsidised extensively are badly run. If Pioneer
Books was receiving 30 pounds a week, this was a
monstrous waste when one considers the needs of the
Bengali comrades.

Faced with starting from scratch—the IMG leadership
rejected the proposition of Comrade Harris that he would
start a book shop providing that he could take all the
decisions (to quote what he said at the meeting where
we discussed the matter). We decided to proceed from
the Bolshevik principle of centralising all the propaganda
functions of the organisation —those who doubt that this
has, until now, been an unchallenged concept should con-
sult Lenin on "Party Organisation and Party Literature”
in Vol. 10 of the collected works. The following is the
most apt quotation:

Publishing and distributing centres, bookshops and read-
ingrooms, libraries and similar establishments— must
all be under party control. The organised socialist prole-
tariat must keep an eye on all this work, supervise it
in its entirety, and from beginning to end, without any
exception, infuse into it the life-stream of the living prole-
tarian cause, thereby cutting the ground from under
the old, semi-Oblomov, semi-shopkeeping Russian prin-
ciple: the writer does the writing, the reader does the
reading.
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No doubt Lenin would have added:
does the bookselling."

Furthermore, the 21 conditions of affiliation to the Third
International had the following to say:

"the bookseller

The periodical press and other publications, and all
party publishing houses, mustbe completely subordinated
to the Presidium, regardless of whether the party as a
whole is at the given moment legal or illegal. Publishing
houses must not be allowed to abuse their independence
and pursue a policy which is not wholly in accordance
with the policy of the party.

When the leadership of the IMG discovered that Com-
rade Harris had established a book concern in rivalry
to Red Books against the express wishes of the organisa-
tion, it was very angry. This is what motivated the cen-
sure motion. Because comrades from all over the country
were receiving circulars from Leader Books inviting them
to subscribe to Intercontinental Press—a journal which
they understood to be the de facto organ of the Fourth
International (we might comment that it is extremely funny
for a "wholesale concern” to solicit individual subsecrip-
tions in this way)—many questions were asked. This
is why the item appeared in Letter to Members. This
came as no surprise to Comrade Harris, who is known
to see Comrade Williams quite regularly and undoubtedly
heard from her about the motion. Of course, it was an
oversight that Comrade Harris was not invited to the
NC in writing by registered post in a letter sealed with
the thumbprint of the National Secretary. However, Com-
rade Harris omits to state in his bulletin that he attended
the PC prior to this NC and the one subsequent to it.
Moreover, the normally alert defender of constitutional
norms, Comrade Williams was present at the offending
NC and did not raise the question of non-attendance
of Comrade Harris.

I say quite unreservedly that had an infringement of
the constitution taken place, and no one can doubt that
it is unconstitutional to take disciplinary action against
comrades in their absence, I would have been the first
to point out that matters had to be put right. It was
to clarify exactly this point that I raised the discussion,
already mentioned, about the exact nature of censure
motions. )

But let us assume that we had set aside the censure
motion and had another discussion— under those circum-
stances is Comrade Harris trying to suggest that the
censure motion would not have been carried at a meeting
at which he was in attendance? The members of the NC
are quite familiar with Comrade Harris's eloquent defence
of himself on this matter—so far they have not been
persuaded by him.

So far as taking the matter to the United Secretariat,
we did this because we understood: a) that Merit Press had
made Comrade Harris sole agent of its publications; and
b) that we had been told that a large loan had been made
from Merit to enable Comrade Harris to start his enter-
prise. We received assurances on these two points: Merit
was prepared to supply Red Books and that the loan
was not a loan but a normal commercial transaction
of allowing extended credit. This being established, the
United Secretariat referred the matter back to the British
section.



Comrade Harris has accused the leadership of the IMG
of trying to obscure the political issues by this raising
of Leader Books. That is extremely amusing coming
from a member of the Tendency. The whole record of
the Tendency, since they accused us to trying to substi-
tute red circles for the IMG, of advocating abstention
in the general election, of liquidationism, etc., has been
that of obscuring political issues, raising red herrings
(or red circles) to try to draw attention away from their
own revisionism.

Under this smokescreen, they tried to smuggle into our
movement revisionist concepts, like suggesting that one
could convert the labour party into an instrument of prole-
tarian democracy, of advocating the reshaping and re-
placing of Parliament (a Kautskian, "British Road to
Socialism"-type concept par excellence); of abandoning the
principled position of advocating solidarity with the Viet-
namese revolution, the list is a long one.

But a further sign of irresponsibility is shown in the
Harris document. As well as its petit-bourgeois individual-
istic spirit, which pervades every line, there is the whole
account of the previous time Comrade Harris got into
trouble over a bookshop. Why was all this put in?

There can be no doubt that Comrade Harris is writing
for people in other sections and giving us a warning in
the process. He appears to be saying "the RSL dared to
try to discipline me over a bookshop; they were kicked
out of the International. The IMG is trying to discipline
me over a bookshop—you had better watch out." This
is despicable. Apart from his distorted account of the
RSL affair —that organisation wasreduced to a sympathetic
section for a whole series of political and organisational
faults, including the total non-payment of subscriptions
for the entire time they had been a section — Comrade
Harris appears to be playing the dangerous game of
trying to utilise the fact that there are differences in the
international movement for his own factional ends.

No one can doubt that the Tendency thought that the
establishment of the Leader Books would give them a
centre, a base from which to get contacts outside the frame-
work of the IMG. I am inclined to let them get on with
that kind of operation—the kind of people who will be
attracted to their right-wing petit-bourgeois political pro-
gramme would be of very little use to IMG.

But in seeking to present to the International a picture
of an ultrabureaucratic IMG disciplining its members be-
cause they step out of line and support positions of the
International minority, Comrade Harristhreatensto poison
the present discussions taking place in the International.

It is clear from the Joe Hansen document on "Defending
the Strategy of the Leninist Party" that there is a very
close agreement between the positions of the Tendency
in Britain and the positions of the SWP, which supports
the minority of the International (it being unable to be-
come a section itself because of reactionary legislation).
Comrade Harris is now trying to suggest that we are
witch-hunting him for these views. The previously mentioned
Joe Hansen memorandum was circulated to the members
of the Political Committee of the SWP which passed the
resolution: I have appended it as an appendix.*

After this conference, it will be necessary to correct the

* See Part III, Correspondencebetween the Socialist Workers
Party (SWP) and the International Marxist Group (IMG)
concerning Pathfinder Press/Alan Harris dispute.
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misinformation in the Joe Hansen memorandum and circu-
late this correction to all those who received it.

This fact alone shows the damage to relations in the
International which has already been done by the irrespon-
sible behaviour of Comrade Harris. This annual conference
of the IMG should reject the so-called appeal of Comrade
Harris. It should reaffirm that the National Committee
of the IMG acted along Bolshevik principles. As an earnest
of the seriousness of its desire to do nothing which can be
represented as taking organisational steps to solve political
problems, it should not take disciplinary action against
Comrade Harris, despite his obvious violation of party
norms of behaviour. It should refuse to be provoked by
his despicable behaviour in trying to poison relations
between the IMG and SWP.

Nothing between now and the coming world congress
should be allowed to cloud the very real political differences
in the International. Instead, these differences should be
clarified and analysed so that their underlying methodo-
logical basis can be demonstrated. The IMG will have
to make a more systematic reply to the Joe Hansen docu-
ment. But this will involve more than a defence of our
position against charges of ultraleftism. We must explain
why it is that basic and well-established Leninist political
positions can be described as ultraleft. This, in turn, will
involve making an assessment of the politics of the SWP,
internationally and nationally. This kind of political clari-
fication will be far more fruitful than getting involved
in organisational wrangles over a miserable provocation
which will result in no political value to the discredited
leaders of the Tendency. Let them have a bookshop—it
won't substitute for revolutionary politics.



B. Nottingham '"'Socialist Woman’' Dispute

c2

Minutes of Special Political Committee to hear charges
laid against Sands, J O'B and MD; held in Nottingham
on Wednesday December 15, 1971

Attendance: Peterson, Clarissa (chair), Tyler, Watts, Wind-
sor, Jenkins, Matthews (minutes), Singh, Sands, J O'B,
MD, Williams, Luff.

Tyler gave a report from the fact-finding commission.
Sands, J O'B and MD were given an opportunity to
reply to Tyler's report and to make their own statements.

Questions were asked to clarify certain points.

As there was some misunderstanding as to the exact
nature of the meeting on the part of the comrades with
charges against them which had meant that they had
not called witnesses the following motion was passed:

M/C that we regard this as a preliminary meeting
to hear the charges and that another meeting be ar-
ranged in Nottingham as soon as possible, to suit
everyone's convenience. This meeting should be ar-
ranged in the following manner:
1. Witnesses will be called and their evidence con-
sidered.
2. Both sides should then make summing up state-
ments.
3. PC members should then withdraw to consider the
cases as presented, and to make the appropriate judg-
ments.

The motion was carried unan.
M/ C that this meeting be held in Nottingham on Fri-
day, January 7th (unan).

T-1

Statement on the hearing of the charges against the Ten-
dency women comrades in Nottingham, 1972

The majority national leadership initiated the proceed-
ings against Tendency women comrades in Nottingham
through the setting up of the Fact-Finding Commission
in March 1971.

Having done so, it failed to take the necessary steps
to see that the work of the commission could be carried
out in a responsible and democratic manner. (See Mi-
nority Report submitted by Pryce.)

The majority leadership supported the majority report
given verbally to the national conference, June 1971 by
Tyler, the NC majority member on the commission, al-
though on its own admission "there was no precise way
of knowing whether the resolutions of NC March 6/7
were implemented.” (See Internal Information Bulletin for
Members Only, July 2nd, 1970.)

Given the responsibility by the national conference to
lay two charges against us, the majority leadership be-
haved in a dilatory and irresponsible manner.
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Six months elapsed before the charges were processed;
and then inadequate preparations made for our "trial."
After this long delay the date of Dec. 15th, 1971 was
fixed without any consultation with us as to convenience
for us and for the only Tendency comrade on the Po-
litical Committee, which we protested. (See correspondence
attached.)

The "trial” was as farcical as the whole history of this
factional affair, initiated and carried through by the ma-
jority leadership setting itself up as the "prosecution,” jury”
and "judges".

We submit that the documented evidence on the history
of this whole affair shows that factionalism against us
for our political views has caused the majority leader-
ship to misuse their authority and abdicate their respon-
sibility to ensure that an atmosphere exists within the
organisation so that comrades are guaranteed a demo-
cratic hearing. It is now our opinion that this has been
denied us both before the whole membership and within
the "trial” procedures itself.

No written report has been made and sent to us re
garding the decisions of the "trial” body —this is again
a further indication of the attitude of the majority leader-
ship regarding the rights of minorities and of the mem-
bership. We are informed by Comrade Williams that the
3 members of the PC who were present at both sessions
of our "trial" reported to the NC on the 8/9 January
1972 that they found the 2 charges against us proven,
but did not consider themselves a representative enough
part of the PC to make any suggestions as to what our
fate should be. So they passed the responsibility for this
to the International Commission.

We are not, we might say, very surprised at their de-
cision to do this—it is yet another indication of the in-
ability of the majority leadership to measure up to the
responsibilities requited of it.

While we regret a further delay in this whole wretched
business we will look forward to meeting the International
Commission and will co-operate fully with the members
of the commission in an endeavour to get our names
cleared before the whole membership.

Sands, Margery and Jo O'B.

Report on the procedure and findings of the special Po-
litical Committee meetings held in Nottingham on the
evenings of Dec. 15th 1971 and January 7th 1972 and
which constituted the body to hear the charges against
the Nottingham Tendency women comrades.

This is, we hope, the final documentation to be made
by us in this very long and scandalous affair. It had
its formal beginnings in July 1970, and now (end of
Jan. '"72), 10 months after the IMG takeover of Social-
ist Woman, we, found "guilty" of the charges laid against
us, are still awaiting the outcome of this verdict since
the IMG national leadership has avoided taking final re-
sponsibility and has referred its findings to the Inter-
national Commission. We have not to this date had any
formal communication from the leadership of the ver-
dict and decisions on our "trial."

At the special PC meeting of Dec. 15th, Sands attempted




to get some definition of the status and procedures of
the meeting. The only correspondence that the Notting-
ham tendency had received was the contents of the charges.
After asking a couple of questions, the chairman, Cla-
rissa, became angry and accused Sands of obstructing
the meeting and refused her permission to ask further
questions on procedure and status of the meeting. He
challenged Comrade Williams to "go ahead and cable
New York with any complaints.”

It quickly became clear that the special PC was nothing
more than a "Star Chamber." The PC members made
no pretence at all that they were there to provide a gen-
uine investigation into the charges against us. They did
not constitute a "jury of our peers" but a "jury" who at
the same time were the "prosecutors” and judges”.

We asked why the leadership had taken six months to
process the charges against us. Clarissa answered that
Sand's personal difficulties (the sickness and death of
her daughter) and the laxness of the NC had allowed
the situation to drift until faced with a letter from Tyler
to the PC demanding action. (It should be noted that
Comrade Tyler has played a key role for the NC through-
out this whole affair. )

Sands challenged them to explain why, if they were
so concerned about her personal pressures, had they not
done everything in their power to ensure her knowledge
about how the charges were to be processed. She had
not been able to attend the National Conference in June
but had understood a Control Commission had been
elected, it had not occurred to her that the leadership
which had been so intimately involved in persecuting and
witch-hunting the women through the organisation would
get themselves up as the jury and judge in our trial. The
leadership had not informed us of our rights to call wit-
nesses; had not brought certain key individuals such as
George to present her vital evidence or Pryce who gave
a minority report to the National Conference. The "rial"
was fixed for mid-week making it impossible for the one
Tendency comrade on the PC to be present. The farcical
nature of the meeting was further indicated by the fact
that of the 6 members of the PC present at the first ses-
sion, 3 of them, Singh, Clarissa and Watts had not read
the evidence which had been submitted by the comrades
charged to the investigation commission over six months
ago.

Comrade Clarissa had the sensitivity to realize how
bad the entire proceedings would look if the "trial" ended
that night and proposed a second meeting where we would
be allowed to call witnesses to present evidence. This ap-
peared to annoy other London comrades present who
had travelled up from London obviously anticipating
a one-session "trial".

January 7

Statements from Rose Knight and Ann Torode were
read [appended]. Audrey Beecham, at the invitation of
the chairman and chief "prosecutor,” was present for the
entire meeting. Although a member of an anarchist group,
she indicated her friendliness to the IMG by mentioning
two services she had done for the IMG not connected
with this. She read the letter she had written to George
(see minority report by Pryce to the National Conference)
and answered questions. Her case was simple: that the
IMG had no right to take SW and in doing so had
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harmed itself in the women's movement; that the IMG had
placed the Nottingham Tendency women in an impossible
position and claimed that we had done our utmost to
protect the IMG. The women of the Nottingham Socialist
Woman's Committee had been outraged by the behaviour
of George in not answering letters and by telling Val
Mollan, the group secretary, to "hurry up and decide
about the proposition for London SW Group to take
over SW be